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Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholders,
Difficult Time
The financial year 2009 (FY 2009˝) was a very difficult
year for Centillion, as it was for our entire electronic
waste recycling industry and all companies engaged in
commodity recycling and trading activities. The challenges
we faced due to the worst global financial crisis in 80
years included the near halt of the credit markets, the
severe drop in scrap supply around the
world and substantially reduced demand
for recycled raw materials.
Despite these challenges, the Board of
Directors and the management team
continue to believe that the electronic
waste recycling industry is an industry
with growth potential and that it is
now even more critical than ever in
the interest of the Group to expand
its operations outside Singapore.
Accordingly, Centillion had repositioned
and restructured its operations in United
States, United Kingdom and Singapore
so as to achieve a higher degree
of flexibility, relevance and service
coverage to customers’ needs in the markets.
United States Challenges and Opportunities
As the United States’ federal and state governments, and
similar agencies of other jurisdictions, continue to restrict
the export of electronic waste, and heighten controls on
domestic processing, the capability to process material
that is closer to raw material will provide a significant
competitive advantage.
With acquisition of GRX in August 2008 and subsequent
merger into Metech, Centillion is operating a total of
7 facilities in the United States under Metech. From
Worcester in Massachusetts and Durham in North
Carolina, facilities on the east coast, Denver and
Colorado Springs in Colorado, Salt Lake City in Utah
and Omaha in Nebraska, facilities in the Mountain

Region to its operations at Gilroy in California, facilities
on the west, Metech is a leading electronic waste
recycler with the largest geographical coverage in the
United States.
Centillion is setting its sight for Metech to be the
largest End of Life (“EOL”) recycler. In
FY2009, Metech processed in excess
of 11 thousand tonnes or 5.5% of the
total volume processed by the United
States domestic recyclers. This domestic
market is estimated to increase from
220 thousand tonnes presently to some
2.5 million tonnes over the next few
years. Metech, with a total capacity of 23
thousand metric tonnes from its current
7 facilities, is well positioned to capitalize
on this rapidly growing market.
Metech is actively involved with
State and National legislations. By
encouraging legislation that requires
electronics to be properly recycled,
domestic recycling volume will increase and so will
Metech’s collections at its facilities.
Alliances are being formed with manufacturers, who
have been taking up more responsibility for proper
recycling of their EOL products, on voluntarily basis
presently and may be made mandatory in the future
under various draft legislations. Metech’s recent
partnership with MRM, an organisation founded by
Panasonic, Sharp and Toshiba for recycling in the United
States, is one of such programs.
Metech is also partnering with the local governments
and other sponsors like Apple to host electronics
collection events, which allow consumers to drop off
old electronics at minimal or no cost. In FY2009, Metech
conducted over 200 such collection events.
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The CRT recycling line redeployed from UK Operation
will enhance Metech’s service offerings, and further
differentiate Metech from its competitors.
In light of the uncertainty and risk associated with
the precious metal recovery business, Centillion shall
progressively reduce its precious metal recovery
business in the United States and focus to expand the
recycling of EOL electronics as its primary source of
business in the United States.
UK and Asia Adapting
Centillion has also diversified its operations in the United
Kingdom from CRT recycling market to the non-CRT
related EOL electronics and Re-Sale Market where it is
presently more profitable and sustainable.
With the termination of joint venture in Singapore,
its operation had been restructured and scaled down
significantly to commensurate with the clienteles in
Singapore. Our operations in Wuxi remains constrained
due to the legacy issues despite resolutions of differences
with governmental agencies. We will continue to
evaluate the best option for our Wuxi operation.
Commitment to Strong
Corporate Governance and Policies
Our non-compromising policy on protecting intellectual
property rights continues to give us that edge over our
competitors. An in-house team of highly qualified and
experienced security officers works directly with clients
to ensure that all security handling requirements and
concerns are effectively dealt with. Today, we count
a pool of internationally recognized multinational
corporations like Apple, AT&T and Panasonic as clients,
who trust us with the safe handling of their intellectual
property products.
Ever mindful and observant of the changing trends in
recycling in different regions in the world, the Group will
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continue to monitor and work on expanding its existing
businesses in electronic waste recycling in accordance
to the changing trends while continuing to explore
possible new synergistic business ventures for the Group
which can offer strategic growth potential.
Centillion shall reaffirm its commitment to effective
corporate governance. Our internal audit has been tasked
with ensuring that we abide by the recommendation of
the Code of Governance 2005, wherever practicable as
we seek to further strengthen customer confidence in our
businesses. The Board of Directors has also consistently
abided by the principles of good corporate governance
in its management of Centillion. With these measures in
place, we are confident that corporate governance and
internal controls can be further enhanced and be kept
abreast with the Centillion’s growth.
Appreciations
I would like to thank our shareholders for their continued
support and trust and the Board of Directors for their
invaluable guidance during a very challenging period.
On behalf of the Board, may I express my deepest
appreciation to the management and staff for their
contributions and effort for their continued support.
I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to our
customers and business partners for their unwavering
support and unstinting confidence in Centillion.
With the Board’s guidance and commitment of the
management and staff, we will continue to create and
deliver value to our shareholders in a sustainable way.
Chng Weng Wah
Non-Executive Chairman
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Review of Operating and Financial Performance
Year ended 30 June 2009

S$(in thousand)
US
Revenue

PBT after EI

UK

SG

Group

US

CN

UK

SG

Group

72,712

107

2,486

2,127

77,432

73,409

117

4,597

5,655

83,778

2,416

(1,477)

(1,404)

(6,003)

(6,979)

2,793

(2,001)

(1,661)

(5,606)

(6,475)

19,057

1,047

(304)

2,304

22,104

–

–

–

6,946

6,946

(16,641) (2,524)

(1,100)

(8,307) (29,082)

2,793

(2,001)

PBT before EI
EI

CN

18 Month ended 30 June 2008

EI – exceptional items

(1,661) (12,552) (13,421)

PBT – Profit before Tax
Geographical Segmental Performance
US continued to be major revenue contributor for the
Group during the financial year accounting for more
than 93.9% (2008: 87.6%) of consolidated revenue of
the Group.
UK Operations recorded significantly lower revenue due
to lower volume of CRT and materials being collected in
UK; whereas, Singapore Operation’s higher revenue in
the prior period was mainly derived from its inventory
on hand. Singapore joint venture was unable to realize
its plan to bring materials from Europe and other regions
resulting in its eventual termination in March 2009.
The slow down of global economic impacted the Group
significantly and led to the revisions to the Group’s
projected future cash flows from its investments, both
tangible and intangible. Consequently, the Group
recorded several significant exceptional items amounted
to $22.1 million against income which resulted in a
much larger consolidated loss before tax of $29.1 million
as compared to $13.4 million for the prior period.

Shredding telephone, Gilroy

Amongst the most significant exceptional items included
in US Operation were $8.6 million and $10.1 million
losses attributed to impairment of its goodwill and
curtailment of precious metal recovery business during
the year, respectively. Other significant exceptional
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items included impairment of fixed assets in China and
Singapore, restructuring charges in UK and Singapore
and intra group disposal gain of fixed asset in UK.

million although it was partially offset by $10.1 million
new equity arising from the issuance of 1.198 billion new
shares in settlement of a claim.

The underlying operations of the Group remained robust
after the restructuring as indicated by the PBT before EI,
especially that of US Operation. After removing the loss
associated with precious metal recovery business that
was curtailed during the year, the Group expects the
remaining business being that of EOL to be profitable.

Net working capital was similarly pressured during the
year from operating losses and reclassification of some
$4.5 million of non-current loans as current liabilities
arising from the failure to meet a financial covenant
by Metech. Consequently, as at end of year, the Group
suffered a deficiency in net working capital of some
$14 million.

Except for Singapore, the other segments also recorded a
smaller PBT before EI as compared to that of prior period.
However, given the restructuring undertaken in UK and
Singapore Operations, the Group expects UK Operation
to improve with its new focus on recycling and resale
of non-CRT EOL materials and Singapore Operation to
reduce it loss with a downsized operation.

In order to remedy the deficiency, the Company had
undertaken various steps including raising $9 million
net proceeds of new equity via a proposed rights issue
and negotiating with lenders for waiver of default (see
Note 2 to financial statements).

Cash Flow Highlights
Despite a loss before tax of $29 million, the Group
generated a net cash inflow from operating activities of
$4 million during the year. This inflow was principally
from realization of inventories and collection of trade
and other receivables.
The Group had invested more than $4 million in
acquisition of GRX and in excess of $5 million for
purchase of new plant and machineries, principally in
China. At the same time, the Group also repaid over
$11.2 million in loan and finance lease liabilities and
raised new borrowings of some $5.9 million.
As the outflows far exceeded the inflows, the cash and
cash equivalent was reduced to $1.2 million as at end
of the year.
Financial Position
The consolidated loss during the year asserted significant
pressure on financial position of the Group. During the
year, the shareholders’ equity was reduced by $23.6

Shredding PCB, Worcester
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Board of Directors
Mr Chng Weng Wah
Non-Executive
Chairman

Mr Loh Eu-Tse Derek
Alternate Director to
Mr Chng Weng Wah

Mr Richard Basil Jacob
Chief Executive Officer

Ms Li Ling Xiu
Non-Executive Director

Mr Chng has been
appointed a Director
of the Company since
September 2006. Mr
Chng is presently
Executive Director
and Chief Executive
Officer of Equation Corp
Limited (“Equation”). Mr
Chng has a diploma in
electrical/electronics
engineering, marketing/
sales management and
marketing management,
and was awarded
Asia Europe Young
Entrepreneurs Award at
Berlin Asia Europe Young
Entrepreneurs Forum in
1999.

Mr Loh graduated with
honours from Cambridge
University and has
been practising law
for the past 16 years
as an Advocate and
Solicitor of the Supreme
Court. He is presently
an Executive Director in
TSMP Law Corporation
and also an independent
director of Dragon Group
International, Friven &
Co Ltd and Freight Links
Express Holdings Ltd.

Mr Jacob joined the
Group in April 2004 as
the Chief Operating
Officer and was
appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer in
October 2006. Mr
Jacob is responsible
for setting the Group’s
goals and objectives and
developing business
locally and regionally.
Mr Jacob has extensive
experience in various
disciplines and more than
19 years of management
experience with multinational corporations,
including Baker Hughes,
U.S. Filter Corporation,
Vivendi Water and Veolia
Water Systems (SEA) Pte
Ltd. Mr Jacob holds an
Associates Degree in Arts.

Ms Li is currently the
Chief Executive Officer
of Chip Lian Investments
(HK) Limited (“Chip
Lian (HK)”) and Sanion
Enterprise Limited. Prior
to joining Chip Lian
(HK), she was the Group
Deputy General Manager
of China Strategic
Holdings Limited, a
company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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Mr Chow Hock Meng
Alternate Director to Ms
Li Ling Xiu

Mr Jen Shek Voon
Independent Director

Mr Lim Kee Way Irwin
Independent Director

Mr Tan Cheng Han
Independent Director

Mr Chow has been with
Chip Lian Group of
companies since 1983
as a manager in charge
of corporate finance
and investment. He is
currently the General
Manager of Oei Hong
Leong Foundation Pte
Ltd. Mr Chow holds a
degree in banking and
finance from Monash
University.

Mr Jen is an accounting
graduate from the
University of Singapore
(B Acc. Honours, 1970),
and has a post-graduate
Commerce degree from
the University of New
South Wales, Sydney,
Australia (M Comm.
Honours, 1975). He is a
Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants
in Australia, Chartered
Certified Accountants,
UK, Taxation Institute
of Australia, and the
Singapore Institute of
Directors, respectively.
In addition, he is a
practicing member of
the Institute of Certified
Public Accountants,
Singapore, and the
Malayan Institute of
Accountants. He is an
independent and nonexecutive director of a
number of companies
listed on the various
stock exchanges in
Singapore, Malaysia and
Hong Kong, SAR.

Mr Lim is currently the
Group Chief Financial
Officer of United Test and
Assembly Centre Ltd. He
is also an independent
director and chairman
of the audit committee
of LifeBrandz Ltd, a
director of Nepes Pte
Ltd, Semiconductor
Manufacturing
International (AT)
Corporation, UTAC
Thai Limited and board
supervisor of UTAC
(Taiwan) Corporation. Mr
Lim has vast experience
in the field of venture
capital and private
equity in Asia and was
previously responsible
for Asiavest Partners’
investments, primarily
in the Southeast Asian
region. Mr Lim holds
a Masters of Science
in Management from
the Imperial College,
University of London, and
a Bachelor of Science in
Industrial Engineering
from Columbia
University.

Professor Tan is the Dean
of the Faculty of Law at
the National University
of Singapore. Currently,
Professor Tan is also a
Vice-President of the
Singapore Academy of
Law, a Senate member of
the National University of
Singapore, a Governor of
the Asian Law Institute,
a member of the
Competition Commission
of Singapore, the Appeal
Advisory Panel to the
Minister of Finance,
the Military Court of
Appeal, and the Board
of Legal Education.
Professor Tan is also
a Senior Counsel and
serves as a director of
several listed companies
including Chuan Hup
Holdings Limited, Anwell
Technologies Limited and
Yellow Pages (Singapore)
Limited.

Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited
Annual Report 2009

8

Financial Highlights
FY2004

FY2005

FY2006

FP2008*

FY2009

78,983

12,763

15,099

83,778

77,432

7,286

(108,997)

14,098

(13,421)

(29,082)

(364)

(107,328)

15,442

(14,519)

(25,907)

Shareholder’s funds ($’000)

95,498

(10,873)

20,356

46,202

32,661

Property, plant and equipment ($’000)

32,048

20,131

24,764

27,188

30,166

(0.06)

(16.97)

1.41

(0.37)

Revenue ($’000)
Profit (Loss) before income tax ($’000)
Profit (Loss) attributable to equity holders ($’000)

Earnings Per Share (cents)

(0.45)

* In 2007, the Company changed its financial year-end from 31st December to 30th June. Accordingly, FP2008 represented the
18-month period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2008.
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300,000
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15,099

100,000

100,000

0

0
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2004
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0
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UK

China
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2009

95,498

2004
2.00

(2.00)

(60,000)

2005

2006

46,202
40,000

(0.06)

(0.37)

(6.00)
32,661

20,356

20,000

(8.00)
(10.00)
(12.00)

(80,000)

(16.00)
(107,328)

(120,000)

(14.00)

0

(100,000)

(20,000)

2008

2009

1.41

(4.00)

60,000
(25,907)

(40,000)

95,498

0.00

80,000
(364)
(14,519)

(108,997)

Singapore

Shareholders Funde ($’000)

2009

15,442

(100,000)
(120,000)

USA

Profit (Loss) Attributable to Equity Holders ($’000)

15,099

(10,873)

(18.00)

(16.97)

(0.45)
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Corporate Governance Report
The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance
in conformity with the recommendations in the Code of Corporate Governance introduced in April
2001 and amended in 2005 (the “Code”). This report outlines the Company’s corporate governance
practices and activities with specific reference to the Code and any deviation from any guideline of
the Code is explained.
BOARD MATTERS
Board’s Conduct of Affairs
Effective Board to lead and control (Principle 1)
The key roles of the Board are to protect and enhance long term shareholder value and returns, set
the Group’s corporate strategies and directions, oversee management of the Group’s business affairs,
financial performance and key operational initiatives, and implementations of risk management policies
and practices.
The Board is also responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Group including setting its strategic
direction, establishing goals for Management and monitoring the achievement of these goals.
To ensure efficient discharge of its duties and effective independent oversight of the Management, the
Board has established a number of board committees, namely Audit Committee, Nominating Committee
and Remuneration Committee. These committees are primarily made up of independent and nonexecutive directors. Specific description of these committees is set out further in this report.
The Board Meetings are held on quarterly basis to review and approve the release of the quarterly
results and discuss reports by Management on the performance of the Group, its plan and prospects.
Additional meetings are also held to specifically consider other issues arising during the year. Directors
are free to discuss and voice their concerns on proposals that are raised for the Board’s consideration
and approval. To ensure sound corporate governance and independent business judgment, all Board
Meetings require at least one Independent Director to form a quorum. Further, Directors take full
advantage of telephonic attendance and conference via audio-video communication at Board Meetings
as permitted by the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Company believes that the contributions of the Directors can be measured by means other than
the attendance at such meetings. A Director is appointed on the strength of his/her caliber, knowledge
and his/her ability to contribute to the proper guidance of the Company and its businesses. His/her
contributions may be in many forms such as the Management’s access to him/her for guidance or
exchange of views outside the formal environment of Board Meetings and also his/her potential to
bring relations, which are strategic to the interests of the Group.
The Group has adopted a set of internal controls and guidelines that set out financial authorisation and
approval limits for borrowings, including off balance sheet commitments, investments, acquisitions,
disposals, capital and operating expenditures, requisitions and expenses. Under the financial
authorisation and approval limits, approval sub-limits are provided at management levels to facilitate
operational efficiency.
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Newly appointed Directors are provided with relevant materials concerning the Company and informal
sessions with the Executive Director to acquaint themselves with the business and governance
practices. All Directors are free to participate in seminars and/or discussion groups and are updated
on developments in the operating environment, particularly on relevant new laws and regulations.
The Directors’ Attendances at the meetings of the Board and Board Committee Meetings Held
in year ended 30 June 2009

No of Meetings Held

Board

Audit

Board
Committees
Remuneration

5

4

2

Directors

*

Nominating
1

No. of Meetings Attended

Chng Weng Wah
(Alternate: Loh Eu-Tse Derek)

4

–

–

–

Li Ling Xiu
(Alternate: Chow Hock Meng)

3

3

–

–

Richard Basil Jacob

4

–

–

–

Lim Kee Way Irwin

4

2*

2

1

Tan Cheng Han

5

4

2

1

Jen Shek Voon

5

4

2

–

Mr. Lim Kee Way Irwin was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee in November 2008.

Board Composition and Guidance
Strong and independent Board exercising objective judgement (Principle 2)
The Board comprises 6 Directors and 2 alternate directors. Save for Mr. Richard Basil Jacob, who is the
CEO and an Executive Director, the remaining 5 directors are Non-Executive Directors of whom 3 are
Independent Directors. The Board is able to exercise objective judgment on the Company’s corporate
affairs, as the Independent Directors are able to contribute their independent views and provide a
strong and independent element to the Board. The Board has adopted the definition in the Code of
what constitutes an Independent Director in its review of the independence of each Director. The
names and key information of the Directors are set out in the Board of Directors section of the Annual
Report.
The Board has evaluated the composition and is satisfied that it is appropriate for the nature and
scope of the Group’s operations and the composition also facilitates effective decision-making. The
Nominating Committee (“NC”) is of the view that the current Board comprises business leaders,
professionals with financial backgrounds and practicing lawyers who as a group, provides core
competencies necessary to meet the Company’s objectives. The Board will continually review its size
to determine its impact upon its effectiveness.
The NC comprises Professor Tan Cheng Han (NC Chairman), Mr Chng Weng Wah and Mr Lim Kee Way
Irwin, the majority of whom, including the NC Chairman, are independent. The NC Chairman is not
directly associated with any substantial shareholder.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer to be two separate persons to ensure clear division of
responsibilities and balance of power and authority (Principle 3)
There is clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman, who is a non-executive, and the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) to ensure an appropriate balance of authority at the top of the Group and
greater capacity of the Board for independent decision-making. The day-to-day running of the Group
is delegated to the CEO.
Apart from overseeing board proceedings in the best interests of the Group, the Chairman ensures that
the Board members work together with the Management and that the Board engages Management in
constructive discussions on various matters, including strategic issues and business planning process.
Board Membership
Formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-election of directors (Principle 4)
All Directors are also subject to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association whereby onethird of the Directors are required to retire and subject themselves to re-election by shareholders at
every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and once every three years. The NC reviews and considers the
retirement and re-election of directors prior to seeking shareholders’ approval at the AGM.
Annually, the NC reviews and assesses the independence of each directors based on the criteria in the
Code. The directors are required to complete and return a questionnaire for review by the NC.
The NC is responsible for identifying and recommending to the Board new Board members, after
considering the necessary and desirable competencies. Accordingly, in selecting potential new
directors, the NC will seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board to fulfill its
responsibilities. In doing so, the NC will have regard to the results of the annual appraisal of the Board’s
performance. The NC may engage consultants to undertake research on, or assess, candidates for new
positions on the Board, or to engage such other independent experts, as it considers necessary to carry
out its duties and responsibilities.
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Chng Weng Wah and Ms Li Ling Xiu will each submit
themselves for retirement and are subject to re-election by the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.
Board Members for 2009

*

Directors

Position

Date of first
appointment

Date of last
re-election

Chng Weng Wah
(Alternate: Loh Eu-Tse Derek)

Chairman

29 Sep ‘06

31 Aug ‘07*

Non-independent/
Non-executive

Li Ling Xiu
(Alternate: Chow Hock Meng)

Director

29 Sep ‘06

31 Aug ‘07*

Non-independent/
Non-executive

Richard Basil Jacob

Chief Executive
Officer

29 Sep ‘06

31 Aug ‘07

Executive

Lim Kee Way Irwin

Director

29 Sep ‘06

29 Oct ‘08

Independent/Non-executive

Tan Cheng Han

Director

29 Sep ‘06

29 Oct ‘08

Independent/Non-executive

Jen Shek Voon

Director

27 Oct ‘06

31 Aug ‘07

Independent/Non-executive

Up for re-election at AGM

Nature of appointment
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Board Performance
Formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each Director
(Principle 5)
The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the NC, ensures that Directors appointed to the
Board possess the background, experience and knowledge in disciplines and skills critical to the Group’s
business and that each Director, through his unique contributions, brings to the Board an independent
and objective perspective to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be made. The criteria
for the appointment of a Director are driven by the need to position and shape the Board in line with
the needs of the Company and its business.
The NC has decided, in consultation with the Board, on how the Board should be evaluated and has
selected a set of performance criteria that is linked to long-term shareholders’ value, to be used for
performance evaluation of the Board.
A formal process is adopted to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by
each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board by taking into account the complementary
and collective nature of the Directors’ contribution and of each individual Director.
Though some of the Board members have multiple board representations, the NC is satisfied that the
Directors have devoted sufficient time and attention to the Group.
The Board is of the view that the financial parameters recommended by the Code as performance
criteria for the evaluation of Directors’ performance may not fully measure the long term success of
the Company and is less appropriate for the Non-Executive Directors and Board’s performance as a
whole.
ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND ACCOUNTABILITY
Board members to have complete, adequate and timely information (Principle 6)
Board’s accountability to the shareholders and Management’s accountability to the Board (Principle 10)
All Directors are free to access the Company’s records and information and shall receive management
accounts so as to enable them to perform their duties. Directors may also seek additional information
from senior executives and other employees in the Company, if the need arises.
In furtherance of their duties, each Director has the right to seek independent legal and other
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or
undertakings.
The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and assists the Board to ensure that the Board
procedures and the rules and regulations relating thereto are complied with. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.
The Management provides the Executive Director with detailed management accounts of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects on a monthly basis. The Management feels that this is sufficient
and if there are any material deviations, the Non-Executive Directors will be informed immediately.
During the quarterly review of financial results, the CEO, CFO and senior managers are also present
to address any queries that the Board may have. Further, internal procedures have been put in place
to enable each member of the Board reviewing the interim financial statements to immediately raise
any material information known to him which may render the interim financial results to be false
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or misleading prior to their release to SGX. Should there be any significant adverse issue(s) raised
by the Audit Committee (AC) or Board member which may affect the results in material way, the
scheduled date of the results announcement will be postponed to allow time for investigation or
further review.
The Board is accountable to the shareholders. It is the aim of the Board to provide shareholders with
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
when presenting financial and other price sensitive public reports, and reports to regulators.
REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedure for Developing Remuneration Policies
Formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors (Principle 7)
Level and Mix of Remuneration
Remuneration of directors to be adequate and not excessive (Principle 8)
Disclosure of Remuneration
Clear disclosure on remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting
remuneration (Principle 9)
The remuneration policy of the Group is to provide compensation packages at market rates, reward
successful performance, and attract, retain and motivate managers and Directors.
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) oversees this policy and is chaired by Mr Lim Kee Way Irwin with
Mr Jen Shek Voon and Professor Tan Cheng Han as its members. All members of RC are Independent
Non-Executive Directors.
The RC recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and senior executives,
and determines specific remuneration package for the Executive Director. All aspects of remuneration,
including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits in kind
are covered by the RC. It also administers the Centillion Employee Share Option Scheme (“CESOS”) or
any long-term incentive scheme which may be set up from time to time.
To enable it to carry out its duties, the RC has access to expert professional advice on human resource
matters whenever there is a need to consult externally.
The CEO, as an Executive Director, does not receive any director’s fees. As the lead member of the
Management, his remuneration consists of a basic salary component and a variable component (annual
bonus), which is based on the Group’s performance and their individual performance.
Non-Executive Directors have remuneration package that consists of a director’s fee component and
a share-based incentive component pursuant to the CESOS. The director’s fee is based on a scale of
fees divided into basic retainer fees and service on board committees. Directors’ fees are subject to
approval by shareholders at AGM.
During the year, the RC met twice to review the remuneration of directors and to grant share options to
senior executives pursuant to CESOS. The Board proposed to increase the allowance of the Chairman of
the Board from $15,000 to $75,000 in recognition of the additional responsibilities undertaken for this
year. Further, in recognition for additional time spent for a much longer prior financial period ended 30
June 2008, the Board further proposed a one time allowance equivalent to 50% of the directors’ fees
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approved by the shareholders for the previous financial period. No share-based incentive was granted
to directors during the year. The details of these share-based incentives granted and their fair-value
are available in the Directors’ Report and Note 29 to the financial statement.
Directors’ fees totalled $570,000 in 2009 (as compared to $340,000 in 2008) and were derived using
the following rates:
Board of Directors

2009

2008

– Basic Fee

$60,000

$60,000

– Chairman’s allowance

$75,000

$15,000

– Audit Committee Chairman’s allowance

$15,000

$15,000

– Other Committee Chairman’s allowance

$5,000

$5,000

Board Committees

Breakdown of Directors’ Remuneration (in %)
Directors

Remuneration
Band

Salary

Bonus

Fees

Other
Benefits

Total

Chng Weng Wah

Below $250,000

–

–

100

–

100

Li Ling Xiu

Below $250,000

–

–

100

–

100

Richard Basil Jacob

$250,000 and above

96

–

–

4

100

Lim Kee Way Irwin

Below $250,000

–

–

100

–

100

Tan Cheng Han

Below $250,000

–

–

100

–

100

Jen Shek Voon

Below $250,000

–

–

100

–

100

Gross Remuneration* of Top 5 Key Executives (who are not also directors) (in %)

*

Name

Remuneration
Band

Salary

Bonus

Fees

Other
Benefits

Total

Sameer Advani

Below $250,000

100

–

–

–

100

Chew Sien Lup

Below $250,000

90

–

–

10

100

Yap Kok Chong

Below $250,000

96

–

–

4

100

Micheal Wright

Below $250,000

100

–

–

–

100

Stanley Yanaga

Below $250,000

100

–

–

–

100

Details of share options granted are disclosed in Directors’ Report and Note 29 to the financial statements.

There is no employee of the Company and its subsidiaries who is an immediate family member of any
Director whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the financial year.
INTERNAL CONTROL AND AUDIT
AUDIT COMMITTEE
Establishment of Audit Committee with written terms of reference (Principle 11)
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises Messrs Jen Shek Voon (AC Chairman), Li Ling Xiu, Tan Cheng
Han and Lim Kee Way Irwin who are all Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom, including the
Chairman, are independent.
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The AC is guided by its terms of reference that set out its duties and responsibilities to assist the
Board to maintain a high standard of Corporate Governance, particularly by providing an independent
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting, management of financial and control risks, and
monitoring of the internal control systems. The AC has power to conduct or authorise investigations
into any matters within the AC’s scope of responsibility. It has also been given reasonable resources
to enable it to perform its function properly.
During the financial year, the AC held four meetings. The external and internal auditors, CEO and CFO
were invited to attend the meetings of the committee.
The AC also reviewed and recommended to the Board the release of financial statements for the 18
month ended 30 June 2008, quarterly financial statements ended 30 September 2008, 31 December
2008 and 31 March 2009, and considered and approved the Audit Plan for year ended 30 June 2009
and Internal Audit Plan for same period. It also reviewed the adequacy of internal control procedures,
interested person transactions and the issues raised in external and internal audit reports. In addition,
the AC Chairman had also inquired about any protected report raised under the Company’s whistleblowing policy and noted that there was none raised during the year.
The AC has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the auditors and noted during
the financial year, there is no non-audit service provided by the auditors.
The AC also reviewed the performance of the external auditors. It recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of KPMG LLP as auditors for the financial year ending 30 June 2010, after having been
satisfied with the standard of audit, independence and objectivity of the auditors.
INTERNAL CONTROLS
Sound system of internal controls (Principle 12)
The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises
that no cost effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, and can provide
only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system of
internal controls is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.
During the year, the AC on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the reports of internal and external
auditors relating to the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management. It also reviews the effectiveness of the
action taken by the Management on the recommendations made by internal and external auditors in
this respect.
The Company has also put in place a whistle blowing framework, whereby staff of the Group may raise
concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting, fraudulent acts and other
matters and ensure that arrangements are in place for independent investigations of such matters
and appropriate follow up actions.
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INTERNAL AUDIT
Independent Internal audit function (Principle 13)
The Group outsourced its internal audit function to Messrs Baker Tilly Consultancy (S) Pte Ltd.
The internal auditor is tasked to identify, analyse and manage the risks of the Group and promote
continuous improvements to the operations.
The internal auditor reports to the Chairman of the AC on any material non-compliance and internal
control weaknesses. The AC will oversee and monitor the implementation of any improvements
thereto.
The AC reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function annually by ensuring that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group.
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders (Principle 14)
Greater shareholder participation at annual general meetings (Principle 14)
The Board believes in regular and timely communication with shareholders. In line with continuous
disclosure obligations of the Company pursuant to the Corporate Disclosure Policy of SGX-ST, the
Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be equally and timely informed of all major developments
that impact the Company. The Company does not practice selective disclosure.
Pertinent information is communicated to shareholders on timely basis. Communication is made
through SGX-ST announcements and press releases on financial results and major developments of
the Group, annual reports, notices of and explanatory circulars for the annual general meetings and
extraordinary meetings and other disclosures and announcements to SGX-ST and the press, as well as
through the Company’s website http://www.centillion-er.com from which the shareholders can access
information on the Company and the Group.
Annual reports are prepared and issued to all shareholders. The Board makes every effort to ensure that
the annual report includes all relevant information about the Group, including future developments
and other disclosures required by the SGX-ST Listing Manual, Companies Act and Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards.
The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. The Company encourages its
shareholders to attend the AGM to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the
Group’s strategy and goals. The Articles of Association allow a shareholder to appoint one or two
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead.
The Board welcomes questions and views of shareholders on matters affecting the Company raised
either informally or formally before or at an AGM. Board members, Chairmen of the AC, NC and RC and
the external auditors are also available to address questions at an AGM.
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DEALING IN SECURITIES
The Company has issued a policy on dealings in the securities of the Company to its Directors and
officers of the Group. It has adopted the Best Practices Guide on Dealings in Securities issued by the
SGX-ST.
Directors and officers are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities for the period of two
weeks before the announcement of the Company’s first three quarters’ results, and one month before
the announcement of the Company’s full year results and ending on the date of the announcement of
the results, or when they are in possession of potentially price sensitive information.
Directors and officers are also not expected to deal in the Company’s securities on considerations of
a short-term nature.
INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transaction with interested persons and
has set out the procedures for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions.
When a potential conflict of interest arises, the director concerned does not participate in discussions
and refrains from exercising any influence over other members of the Board.
During the financial period under review, no transaction was conducted with any interested person
exceeding the amount of S$100,000 each and the Company did not have a shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920 of the Listing Manual
MATERIAL CONTRACTS [Rule 1207(8)]
There were no material contracts made by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interest of the
CEO, each Director or Controlling Shareholder except for loan agreement dated 30 June 2009 entered
into with Equation Corp Ltd (“ECL”), a substantial shareholder. The loan amount was $0.5 million and
subsequently increased to $2 million on 4 September 2009 (see Note 36c to the financial statement).
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Directors’ Report
We submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.
Directors
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Chng Weng Wah
Loh Eu-Tse Derek
Li Ling Xiu
Chow Hock Meng
Richard Basil Jacob
Jen Shek Voon
Lim Kee Way Irwin
Tan Cheng Han

(Alternate to Chng Weng Wah)
(Alternate to Li Ling Xiu)

Directors’ interests
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the Act), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year
(including those held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share
options in the Company and in related corporations are as follows:
Holdings at
beginning
of the year

Holdings at
end of the year

Chng Weng Wah
The Company
– ordinary shares
– deemed interests

1,747,448,344

1,747,448,344

Richard Basil Jacob
The Company
– ordinary shares
– deemed interests

1,000,000

1,000,000

Name of director and corporation in
which interests are held

By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Mr Chng Weng Wah is deemed to have interests in all
the subsidiaries of the Company, all of which are wholly-owned, at the beginning and at the end of
the financial year.
Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had
interests in shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations,
either at the beginning, or at the end of the financial year.
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There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of
the financial year and 21 July 2009.
Except as disclosed under the “Share Options” section of this report, neither at the end of, nor at any
time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or
one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
Except for salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in this report and in note 32
to the financial statements, since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become
entitled to receive, a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with
the director, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial
financial interest.
Share options
Except as disclosed below, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under
option granted by the Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.
Employee share option scheme
The Centillion Share Option Scheme (the Scheme) (formerly known as Citiraya Share Option Scheme)
of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held
on 13 June 2002. Details of the Scheme were set out in the Directors’ Report for the financial year
ended 30 June 2000.
Following a review during the year, the Board of Directors further approved the following amendments
to the Scheme:
•

Amendment to Rule 7(a) of the Scheme
Based on Rule 7(a) (prior to the Alterations), all options exercisable under the Scheme otherwise
than at a discount (“Non-Discount Options”) may in effect be exercisable in full within 2 years
from Date of Grant.
Pursuant to the Alterations, Rule 7(a) now provides the Remuneration Committee with the
discretion to designate, at the issue of certain Non-Discount Options, that such options may
only be partially exercised after 2 years from the Date of Grant and exercised in full after 3 years
from the Date of Grant (“Designated Options”).
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•

Amendment to Rule 9.1 of the Scheme
Prior to the Alterations, Rule 9.1 of the Scheme provides that the subscription price of a share
in the issued and paid up capital of the Company (the “Share”) to be paid upon the exercise of
an option (other than an option exercisable at a discount) shall be equal to the Market Price.
For the purpose of the Scheme, Market Price is defined as the average of the last dealt prices
per Share determined by reference to the daily official list published by the SGX-ST for a period
of five (5) consecutive market days immediately prior to the relevant Date of Grant.
Pursuant to the Alterations, Rule 9.1 now provides the Remuneration Committee with the
discretion to fix the subscription price payable upon the exercise of such options at a price
between the Market Price and 200% of the Market Price (both inclusive).

The Scheme is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee whose members as at the
date of this report are as follows:
Lim Kee Way Irwin
Jen Shek Voon
Tan Cheng Han

(Chairman)

Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:
(a)

Up to 50% of the options may be exercised at any time after 12 months and the remaining
50% of the option at any time after 24 months from the date of grant of that option. The
Remuneration Committee may designate certain options to be exercised in full after 36 months
from the date of grant of that option;

(b)

All options are settled by physical delivery of shares; and

(c)

The options granted would expire after five years for non-executive Directors and 10 years for
the employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the Scheme on the unissued
ordinary shares of the Company, are as follows:
Exercise
Options
price per outstanding
share
at 1/7/2008
$
Non-Designated Options @ market price
27 June 2002
0.200
4,262,500
20 November 2003
0.400
5,002,500
26 August 2004
0.540
6,015,000
Date of grant
of options

15,280,000

Options
forfeited/
expired

Options
granted

–
–
–

–
–
(1,485,000)
(1,485,000)

Options
Number of
Options outstanding option holders
exercised at 30/6/2009 at 30/6/2009

–
–
–

4,262,500
5,002,500
4,530,000
13,795,000

6
6
7

Expiry date

27 June 2012
20 November 2013
26 August 2014
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Exercise
Options
price per outstanding Options
share
at 1/7/2008 granted
$
Designated Options* @ 200% of market price
14 May 2009
0.028
– 300,000,000
Date of grant
of options

15,280,000 300,000,000
*

Options
forfeited/
expired
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Options
Number of
Options outstanding option holders
exercised at 30/6/2009 at 30/6/2009

–

–

300,000,000

(1,485,000)

–

313,795,000

2

Expiry date

14 May 2019

These options have been designated as options that 50% of which may be exercised after 24 months and
the balance of 50% after 36 months from the date of grant respectively.

Details of options granted to directors of the Company under the Scheme are as follows:
Since commencement of Scheme to 30/6/2009
Options granted
for year ended
30/6/2009

Name
Richard Basil Jacob

–

Aggregate
options granted
950,000

Aggregate
Aggregate options
Aggregate
options cancelled outstanding as at
options exercised
or forfeited
30/6/2009
–

–

950,000

The following participants of the Scheme had received 5% or more of the total options available under
the Scheme:
Since commencement of Scheme to 30/6/2009
Options granted
for year ended
30/6/2009

Name
Michael Wright
Sameer Advani

150,000,000
150,000,000

Aggregate
options granted
–
–

Aggregate
Aggregate options
Aggregate
options cancelled outstanding as at
options exercised
or forfeited
30/6/2009
–
–

–
–

150,000,000
150,000,000

Since the commencement of the Scheme until the end of the financial year:
(a)

no options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company and their
associates;

(b)

no participant, other than the participants mentioned above, has received 5% or more of the
total options available under the Scheme; and

(c)

no options that entitle the holder to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue of
any other corporation have been granted.
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Audit committee
During the financial year, Mr Lim Kee Way Irwin, independent non-executive director, was appointed
as an additional member to the Audit Committee. Members during the year and at the date of this
report are:
Jen Shek Voon (Chairman)
Tan Cheng Han
Lim Kee Way Irwin
Li Ling Xiu
Chow Hock Meng

(Independent Non-executive Director)
(Independent Non-executive Director)
(Independent Non-executive Director) w.e.f. 6 November 2008
(Non-executive Director)
(Alternate to Li Ling Xiu)

The Audit Committee had in place written terms of reference setting out its authority and duties which
includes, amongst others, the following:
(a)

review of the audit plans of the Company’s auditors and their evaluation of the systems of
internal accounting controls arising from their audit examination, including assistance given
by the Company’s officers to the auditors;

(b)

review of the scope and results of internal audit procedures;

(c)

review of the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group before their submission to the Board of Directors;

(d)

review of interested person transactions (as defined in the Listing Manual of Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST)); and

(e)

recommendation to the Board of Directors on the nomination of external auditors.

Auditors
The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.
On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chng Weng Wah
Director

Richard Basil Jacob
Director
6 October 2009
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Statement by Directors
In our opinion:
(a)

the financial statements set out on pages 26 to 82 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2009 and the results,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for
the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies
Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for
issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chng Weng Wah
Director

Richard Basil Jacob
Director
6 October 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Members of the Company
Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited
(the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and
the Company as at 30 June 2009, the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow
statement of the Group, and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on
pages 26 to 82.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
(a)

devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary
to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to
maintain accountability of assets;

(b)

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c)

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of
changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2009 and the results, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on
that date; and

(b)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept
in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements which indicates
that the financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared on a going concern
basis notwithstanding the loss for the year ended 30 June 2009 of $25.9 million and $15.8 million for
the Group and the Company respectively; and the net current liabilities at 30 June 2009 of $14.0 million
and $3.5 million, for the Group and the Company respectively. During the year ended 30 June 2009,
a subsidiary has also breached a covenant by failing to comply with the debt service coverage ratio
at all times. As a result of the covenant breach, borrowings of $5.4 million (of which the non-current
portion of $4.5 million has been reclassified to current liabilities) could be called for repayment at any
time by the bank. At the date of this report, the bank has not demanded for immediate repayment of
the loan.
To enable the Group and the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due over the
next 12 months, the Company is in the process of carrying out a non-underwritten rights issue to raise
approximately $9.0 million to be used towards settlement of amounts due to major creditors of $6.9
million. The remaining $2.1 million will be set aside as additional working capital. The Company has also,
as of 30 June 2009, received a temporary bridging loan of $0.5 million from a substantial shareholder
of the Company. An additional $1.5 million temporary bridging loan was received subsequent to the
financial year end from the same shareholder.
These conditions, as set forth in Note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group and the Company to continue
to operate as a going concern, and, therefore, the Group and the Company may be unable to realise
their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
6 October 2009
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Balance Sheets
As at 30 June 2009
Note

2009
$’000

Group

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

Company

2008
$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Subsidiaries
Joint venture
Restricted cash held in trust
Intangible asset
Land use rights
Deferred tax asset

4
5
6
7
8
9
20

30,166
–
–
4,590
10,655
2,629
3,296
51,336

27,188
–
–
589
16,032
2,562
–
46,371

82
41,735
–
4,590
–
–
–
46,407

202
45,028
3,335
–
–
–
–
48,565

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Restricted cash held in trust
Cash and cash equivalents

10
11
12
7
13

7,629
2,810
3,267
636
1,236
15,578
66,914

20,131
4,163
5,154
–
11,120
40,568
86,939

–
154
5,393
–
597
6,144
52,551

–
332
7,037
–
4,219
11,588
60,153

14
15

141,756
3,707
(112,802)
32,661

131,650
1,447
(86,895)
46,202

141,756
1,537
(104,990)
38,303

131,650
1,327
(89,147)
43,830

16
17

70
–

966
148

–
–

–
–

7

4,590
4,660

–
1,114

4,590
4,590

–
–

16
18
19

9,639
5,568
14,080

12,748
4,613
21,281

–
5
9,653

–
280
16,043

17

–
306
29,593
34,253
66,914

232
749
39,623
40,737
86,939

–
–
9,658
14,248
52,551

–
–
16,323
16,323
60,153

Total assets
Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Share capital
Other reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease liabilities
Funds held in trust for scheme of
arrangement
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
Other payables
Current portion of finance lease
liabilities
Income tax payable
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes form an intergal part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Income Statements
Year ended 30 June 2009

Note
Revenue
Cost of sales

21

Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000
77,432
(77,832)

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000
83,778
(73,472)
10,306
10,701
(2,082)
(17,410)
(13,860)

Gross (loss)/profit
Other operating income
Distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

23

(400)
583
(1,894)
(12,261)
(14,188)

Results from operating activities
Finance expense

24

(28,160)
(922)

(12,345)
(1,076)

Loss before income tax
Income tax

25
26

(29,082)
3,175

(13,421)
(1,098)

Loss for the year/period

(25,907)

(14,519)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

(25,907)

(14,519)

27

(0.45)

(0.37)

27

(0.45)

(0.37)

Loss per share
– Basic (cents)
– Diluted (cents)

22

The accompanying notes form an intergal part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 30 June 2009

Share
capital
$’000
Group
At 1 January 2007
Net income recognised directly in
equity – currency translation
differences
Net loss for the period
Total recognised income and
expense for the period
Issuance of ordinary shares for
cash, net of expenses
Conversion of convertible notes to
ordinary shares, net of expenses

Currency
translation
reserve
$’000

Share
option
reserve
$’000

Accumulated
losses
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

91,716

(311)

1,327

(72,376)

20,356

–
–

431
–

–
–

–
(14,519)

431
(14,519)

–

431

–

(14,519)

(14,088)

16,100

–

–

–

16,100

23,834

–

–

–

23,834

At 30 June 2008
Net loss recognised directly in
equity – currency translation
differences
Net loss for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Issuance of ordinary shares for
cash, net of expenses
Value of employee services
received for issue of
share options

131,650

120

1,327

(86,895)

46,202

–
–

2,050
–

–
–

–
(25,907)

2,050
(25,907)

–

2,050

–

(25,907)

(23,857)

10,106

–

–

–

10,106

–

–

210

–

210

At 30 June 2009

141,756

2,170

1,537

(112,802)

32,661

The accompanying notes form an intergal part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity of the Company
Year ended 30 June 2009

Share
capital
$’000

Share
option
reserve
$’000

Accumulated
losses
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

91,716

1,327

(82,049)

10,994

–
16,100

–
–

(7,098)
–

(7,098)
16,100

23,834

–

–

23,834

At 30 June 2008
Net loss for the year representing total recognised
income and expense for the year
Issuance of ordinary shares for cash, net of expenses
Value of employee services received for issue of
share options

131,650

1,327

(89,147)

43,830

–
10,106

–
–

(15,843)
–

(15,843)
10,106

–

210

–

210

At 30 June 2009

141,756

1,537

(104,990)

38,303

Company
At 1 January 2007
Net loss for the period representing total recognised
income and expense for the period
Issuance of ordinary shares for cash, net of expenses
Conversion of convertible notes to ordinary shares,
net of expenses

The accompanying notes form an intergal part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 30 June 2009

Note
Operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off
Impairment loss/(Reversal of) on plant and equipment
Impairment loss on goodwill
(Reversal of)/Impairment loss on receivables
Impairment loss/(Reversal of) on inventories
Inventories written off
Depreciation and amortisation
Gain on reversal of finance lease liabilities
Gain arising from settlement of a dispute over
ownership of materials
Settlement of assertion from a professional
service firm (Note A)
Employee stock option expense
Restructuring cost
Interest income
Interest expense
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Deposit pledged
Cash encumbered
Trade and other payables (Note A)
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Net income taxes received/(paid)
Cash flows from operating activities
Balance carried forward

19

Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

(29,082)

(13,421)

10
125
2,494
8,634
(85)
40
–
1,526
–

(2,881)
893
(3,096)
–
(388)
(653)
48
2,152
(187)

–

(1,390)

–
210
1,400
(8)
922
(13,814)

11,530
–
–
(261)
1,076
(6,578)

4,720
14,281
50
(3,953)
3,622
4,906
8
(963)
91
4,042

(2,518)
(5,623)
(50)
34
290
(14,445)
261
(1,013)
(929)
(16,126)

4,042

(16,126)

The accompanying notes form an intergal part of these financial statements.
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Note

Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

31

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

Balance brought forward

4,042

(16,126)

Investing activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired
34(a)/(b)
Acquisition of a joint venture, net of cash acquired
34(d)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note B)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Cash flows from investing activities

(4,181)
231
(5,097)
504
(8,543)

(17,213)
3,301
(5,937)
15,867
(3,982)

5,901
(10,954)
–
(328)

2,525
(7,220)
(9,895)
(427)

(62)

16,100

–
(5,443)

23,834
24,917

(9,944)

4,809

11,070

6,115

110
1,236

146
11,070

Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Repayment of long term liabilities
Payment of finance lease liabilities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares,
net of expenses (Note A)
Issuance and conversion of convertible notes to
ordinary shares
Cash flows from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year/period
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in
foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year/period
Significant non-cash transactions

NOTE A
During the previous financial period, the Company arrived at a settlement agreement with a professional services
firm relating to payment of $12,030,000 to the professional services firm for services previously rendered to the
Company, of which $2,527,000 was to be paid in cash and the balance of $9,503,000 to be settled through the
issuance of new ordinary shares in the Company. In 2008, $500,000 in cash was paid. On 24 October 2008, 1.198
billion new shares were issued to the professional services firm, being full settlement of the liabilities of $10,168,000.
Costs of $62,000 relating to the issuance of new shares were incurred.
NOTE B
During the financial year, the Group acquired certain plant and equipment with a cost of $653,000 (2008: $1,250,000),
which has yet to be settled as at 30 June 2009.

The accompanying notes form an intergal part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 October 2009.
1
General
Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited (Registration Number: 199206445M) is incorporated in
the Republic of Singapore with its principal place of business and registered office at 65 Tech Park
Crescent, Singapore 637787. The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX-ST”).
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are primarily the provision of a one-stop recycling and processing service centre for the
electronics industry and the trading of plastics and non-precious metal materials.
The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the Group).
2
Going Concern
The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis
notwithstanding the loss for the year ended 30 June 2009 of $25.9 million and $15.8 million for the Group
and the Company respectively; and the net current liabilities at 30 June 2009 of $14.0 million and $3.5
million, for the Group and the Company respectively. During the year ended 30 June 2009, a subsidiary,
Metech International, Inc. (“Metech”), has breached a covenant of the mortgage note by failing to comply
with the debt service coverage ratio at all times. As a result of the covenant breach, borrowings of
$5.4 million (of which the non-current portion of $4.5 million has been reclassified to current liabilities)
could be called for repayment at any time by the bank.
In analysing the going concern position of the Company, the directors of the Company have considered
the following factors:
(i)

Metech is confident of reaching an agreement with the bank to waive the covenant breach
and maintain the original repayment terms as disclosed in note 16, since Metech’s property
has been mortgaged to the bank and the assessed value at 26 June 2009 by the County
Government Centre of Santa Clara, California, USA, is in excess of the outstanding loan amount
by approximately US$898,000. At the date of this report, the bank has not demanded for
immediate repayment of the loan.
If Metech is successful in its negotiations with the bank, so that the repayment terms
are maintained at the original terms, Metech is confident that it will be able to generate
sufficient operating net cash inflows for the next twelve months to fulfil its loan repayment
obligations.
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If Metech is unsuccessful in its existing negotiations with its bank to waive the covenant
breach, Metech may be called upon to fully repay its existing bank loans. In that situation, if
the Company is unable to raise financing from other sources or does not obtain further funding
from its shareholders, it would be unable to meet its cash flow requirements.
(ii)

On 30 June 2009, the Company announced a non-underwritten rights issue exercise which
is expected to raise approximately $9 million in net proceeds for the Company, in the event
of a full subscription. Proceeds from the rights issue would be used towards settlement of
amounts due to major creditors of $6.9 million and the remaining $2.1 million as additional
working capital. At the date of the announcement, one of the major shareholder, who holds
approximately 14.19% in the share capital of the Company, has undertaken to subscribe for
rights shares amounting to $1.3 million in funds raised.

(iii)

The Company has obtained a temporary bridging loan from a substantial shareholder of
$500,000 to meet its obligations at 30 June 2009. This shareholder loan will be payable on the
earlier of the completion of the rights issue or 31 December 2009. Subsequent to the yearend, the shareholder has increased the loan from $500,000 to $2.0 million and undertaken to
subscribe for rights shares amounting to $2.0 million (note 36 (c)).

(iv)

The Company has also reached an agreement with certain parties for the settlement of liabilities
amounting to $3.99 million, in the form of shares amounting to $0.8 million in the Company and
payment of and/or set off against the remaining liabilities of $3.19 million against the proceeds
from the proposed rights issue or shares issuable under the proposed rights issue, in the event
of under subscription (note 36(b)).

(v)

If the rights issue is unsuccessful or the proceeds raised from the rights issue is insufficient,
the Company would have to conduct further fund raising in order to meet its payment
obligations.

This material uncertainty may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group and the Company to
continue to operate as a going concern, and, therefore, the Group and the Company may be unable
to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business.
3
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
3.1
Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes
in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $) which is the Company’s
functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) except when otherwise
indicated.
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The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are
consistent with those used in the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following
new and revised standards. The adoption of these standards has no significant impact on current and
prior periods.
•
•
•
•

INT FRS 111
INT FRS 112
INT FRS 113
INT FRS 114

FRS 102 Group and Treasury Shares Transactions
Service Concession Arrangements
Customer Loyalty Programmes
The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction

3.2
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
The Group and the Company have not applied the following accounting standards (including its
consequential amendments) and interpretations that have been issued as of balance sheet date but
are not yet effective:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

FRS 1 (revised 2008) Presentation of Financial Statements
FRS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing Costs
Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and FRS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
Amendments to FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged
Items
Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or Associate
Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
FRS 103 (revised) Business Combinations and FRS 27 (revised) Separate and Consolidated
Financial Statements
Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments
FRS 108 Operating Segments
Improvements to FRSs 2008
Improvements to FRSs 2009
INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
INT FRS 118 Transfer of Assets from Customers

FRS 1 (revised 2008) will become effective for the financial statements for the year ending 30 June
2010. The revised standard requires an entity to present, in a statement of changes in equity, all
owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity (ie comprehensive income) are required
to be presented in one statement of comprehensive income or in two statements (a separate income
statement and a statement of comprehensive income). Components of comprehensive income are
not permitted to be presented in the statement of changes in equity. In addition, a statement of
financial position is required at the beginning of the earliest comparative period following a change in
accounting policy, the correction of an error or the reclassification of items in the financial statements.
FRS 1 (revised 2008) does not have any impact on the Group’s financial position or results.
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FRS 23 will become effective for the financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2010. FRS 23
removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the
cost of the asset. The Group’s current policy is consistent with the FRS 23 requirement to capitalise
borrowing costs.
FRS 108 will become effective for the financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2010. FRS 108,
which replaces FRS 14 Segment Reporting, requires identification and reporting of operating segments
based on internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker in
order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
Currently, the Group presents segment information in respect of its geographical segments (see
note 33). The Group’s current presentation of segment information is consistent with the FRS 108
requirements.
The Directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to
the financial statements of the Company and the Group in the period of initial application. The Group
has not considered the impact of accounting standards issued after the balance sheet date.
3.3
Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about the assumptions and their risk factors are set out in the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Note 4 for the useful lives and depreciation and impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment;
Note 5 for impairment assessment on investment in subsidiaries;
Note 8 for impairment assessment of goodwill;
Notes 11 and 12 for impairment assessment on doubtful receivables;
Note 26 for income taxes;
Note 34 for valuation of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in business
combinations; and
Note 35 for measurement of contingent liabilities.

3.4
Foreign Currencies
Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange
rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined.
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Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at
the balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement.
Foreign Currency Translation
The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into SGD using the following
procedures:
•
•

assets and liabilities are translated at the rate ruling at that balance sheet date; and
income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the year, which approximate
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign currency
translation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences deferred in equity
relating to that foreign operation is recognised in the income statement as a component of the gain
or loss on disposal.
3.5
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Leasehold properties
Plant and equipment
Furniture and fixtures

30 to 53.5 years
5 to 10 years
5 years

Plant under construction is not depreciated as these assets are not available for use. The carrying
values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date to ensure that the
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and
equipment.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
is included in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised.
3.6
Subsidiaries and Principles of Consolidation
Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus cost directly attributable to the acquisition.
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The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under FRS 103 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for noncurrent assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 NonCurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair
value less costs to sell.
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The Group generally has such power when it, directly
or indirectly, holds more than 50% of the issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting
power, or controls the composition of the board of directors. In assessing control, potential voting
rights presently exercisable are taken into account.
In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less any
impairment losses.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at the balance sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the
holding company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar
circumstances.
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions that are recognised in assets are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by
the Group. They are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from the
parent shareholders’ equity, and are separately disclosed in the consolidated income statement. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and
is able to make an additional investment to cover its share of those losses.
3.7
Joint Ventures
A joint venture is an entity over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual
agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. The
Group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by
proportionate consolidation.
Proportionate consolidation involves combining the Group’s share of joint ventures individual income
and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the
consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of the joint ventures are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions
and events in the similar circumstances.
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The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of assets by the Group to the joint
ventures to the extent that it is attributable to the other venturers. The Group does not recognise
its share of results from the joint ventures that arose from the Group’s purchase of assets from the
joint ventures until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is
recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the realisable value of current
assets or an impairment loss.
The joint venture is proportionately consolidated until the date on which the Group ceases to have
joint control over the joint venture.
In the Company’s balance sheet, investment in joint ventures is accounted for at cost less impairment
losses.
3.8
Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible assets.
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
3.9
Land Use Rights
Land use rights represent prepaid leases for the Group’s leasehold interest in land under operating
leases. Land use rights are carried at cost and amortised to the income statement over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.
3.10 Impairment
Financial Assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events
have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
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An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is
recognised in the income statement.
Non-financial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset, other than
inventories and deferred tax assets, may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in the income statement as ‘other operating expenses’.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses recognised for an asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. Reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. After such
a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
3.11 Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. Financial
assets include trade receivables, other receivables, receivables from related parties and cash and cash
equivalents. Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The
Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in income statement
when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.
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Derecognition of Financial Assets
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and
the sum of (a) the consideration received and (b) any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised
directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.
3.12 Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments
Financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables, payables to related parties and
borrowings.
Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of consideration received less directly attributable
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
3.13 Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its commodity price risk exposures of certain
metals. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely
related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivatives would meet the definition
of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair values; attributable transaction costs are recognised in the
income statement when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair
value, and changes in the fair value of such derivatives are recognised in the income statement. Hedge
accounting is not applied to derivative instruments that economically hedge monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.
3.14 Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
3.15 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits less bank overdrafts and pledged
deposits.
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3.16 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses.
3.17 Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability. Finance charges are charged to the income statement. Contingent rents, if any, are charged
as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of
the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as
a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
3.18 Employee Benefits
Defined Contribution Plans
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in
which it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the
Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions
to national pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service
is performed.
Employee Leave Entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees.
The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to balance sheet
date.
Employee Share Option Plans
Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions,
whereby employees render services as consideration for share options (‘equity-settled transactions’).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date on which the share options are granted. In valuing the share options, no account is taken of
any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company
(‘market conditions’), if applicable.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in the
employee share option reserve, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(‘the vesting date’). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
income statement for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
For share-based options granted to employees of subsidiaries where the subsidiaries have no obligation
to repay, the fair value of the option granted is recognised as an increase in the Company’s investment
in subsidiaries with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period.
3.19 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
3.20 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of returns and allowances.
Sale of Goods
Revenue is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods
to the customer, which generally coincides with delivery and acceptance of the goods sold. Revenue
is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.
Rendering of Services
Revenue from the refining of electronic waste that is of short duration is recognised when the services
are completed.
Interest Income
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless
collectibility is in doubt.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised
until the assets are ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.
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3.21 Income Taxes
Current Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company and subsidiaries operate.
Deferred Tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:
•
•

where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences (other than those
mentioned above), carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and
the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are
reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold
properties
Group
$’000
Cost
At 1 January 2007
Translation differences on
consolidation
Additions
Disposals
Write off
Assets acquired in business
combination
Assets acquired in joint
venture
Reclassification
Reclassified from assets
held for sale

Plant and
Furniture Plant under
equipment and fixtures construction
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

16,180

7,771

1,734

12,208

37,893

(536)
–
(16,180)
–

(248)
1,023
(915)
(1,127)

(30)
150
(1,245)
(170)

326
6,014
(643)
(225)

(488)
7,187
(18,983)
(1,522)

6,003

1,023

33

519

7,578

–
–

2,126
909

70
–

–
(909)

2,196
–

–

232

–

–

232

At 30 June 2008
Translation differences on
consolidation
Additions
Disposals
Write off
Assets acquired in joint
venture
Assets acquired in business
combination
Transfers

5,467

10,794

542

17,290

34,093

358
90
–
–

(78)
89
(1,550)
(100)

(20)
3
(41)
(69)

736
5,568
–
–

996
5,750
(1,591)
(169)

–

250

–

–

250

–
–

235
965

25
–

–
(965)

260
–

At 30 June 2009

5,915

10,605

440

22,629

39,589

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2007
Translation differences
on consolidation
Depreciation for the period
Reversal of impairment
losses
Disposals
Write off
Reclassified from assets
held for sale
At 30 June 2008

5,854

5,979

1,296

–

13,129

(13)
262

(105)
1,474

(15)
274

–
–

(133)
2,010

(3,096)
(2,690)
–

–
(271)
(1,110)

–
(937)
(162)

–
–
–

(3,096)
(3,898)
(1,272)

–

165

–

–

165

317

6,132

456

–

6,905
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Group
Translation differences
on consolidation
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Write off
Impairment losses

Leasehold
properties
$’000

Plant and
Furniture Plant under
equipment and fixtures construction
$’000
$’000
$’000

45

Total
$’000

6
26
–
–
–

(124)
1,327
(1,042)
(38)
1,407

(202)
112
(35)
(6)
40

–
–
–
–
1,047

(320)
1,465
(1,077)
(44)
2,494

349

7,662

365

1,047

9,423

10,326

1,792

438

12,208

24,764

At 30 June 2008

5,150

4,662

86

17,290

27,188

At 30 June 2009

5,566

2,943

75

21,582

30,166

Cost
At 1 January 2007
Additions
Disposals
Write off

–
–
–
–

2,073
166
(543)
(462)

176
131
–
(159)

–
–
–
–

2,249
297
(543)
(621)

At 30 June 2008 and
30 June 2009

–

1,234

148

–

1,382

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2007
Depreciation for the period
Disposals
Write off

–
–
–
–

1,681
198
(372)
(455)

147
135
–
(154)

–
–
–
–

1,828
333
(372)
(609)

At 30 June 2008
Depreciation for the year

–
–

1,052
112

128
8

–
–

1,180
120

At 30 June 2009

–

1,164

136

–

1,300

At 30 June 2009
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2007

Company
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Leasehold
properties
$’000

Company

Plant and
Furniture Plant under
equipment and fixtures construction
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2007

–

392

29

–

421

At 30 June 2008

–

182

20

–

202

At 30 June 2009

–

70

12

–

82

At 30 June 2009, the net carrying amount of plant and equipment under finance lease for the Group
was $ nil (2008: $559,000).
The following property, plant and equipment of the Group were pledged as security under promissory
note, line of credit or term loan (note 16).
Group

Leasehold properties
Plant and equipment

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

4,955
1,115

4,187
1,174

6,070

5,361

Impairment loss
During the financial year ended 30 June 2009, the Group conducted an impairment assessment of its
property, plant and equipment.
Based on the assessment, the carrying amounts of certain property, plant and equipment were
determined to be lower than their recoverable amounts. Accordingly, the following impairment losses
were recognised:–

Singapore operations: Impairment loss of $1.11 million was recognised upon termination of
a joint venture (note 34(d)). The recoverable amount of the plant and equipment of $495,000
was determined by management. The fair value of the plant and equipment was based on the
estimated selling price between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction
after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and
without compulsion.

–

China operations: Impairment loss of $1.05 million relating to a plant under construction was
recognised. Value-in-use of the cash-generating unit was determined based on the following
key assumptions:
•
•
•

Cash flows were projected based on a 5-year business plan. Cash flows for a further
5-year period were extrapolated assuming no growth.
Revenue is expected to build up in the first 5 years of operations to reach annual revenue of
$45 million in 2014, thereafter stabilising at minimal revenue growth from 2014 onwards.
The pre-tax discount rate used was 9.5%.
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US operations: Impairment loss of $0.33 million was recognised upon retirement of a specific
process equipment. The recoverable amount of the equipment was based on valuation report
obtained from an independent professional valuer. The fair value of the equipment determined
by the independent professional valuer was based on the estimated selling price utilising an
open market value basis.
Please refer to note 8 for disclosures pertaining to the key assumptions and discount rates
applied in management’s determination of the value-in-use of the US operation.

In the financial period ended 30 June 2008, a reversal of impairment loss of $3,096,000 was recognised
in other operating income in the consolidated income statement, upon disposal of leasehold
properties.
Source of estimation uncertainty
The cost of plant and equipment for the processing of electronic waste is depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the useful lives of the machinery. Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and
equipment to be within 5 to 10 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the manufacturing
industry. The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and equipment at 2009 was $2,943,000 (2008:
$4,662,000).
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic
useful lives and the recoverable values of these assets; therefore depreciation charges and recoverable
values could be revised in the future.
5

Subsidiaries
Company

Equity investments, at cost
Loans
Impairment losses on
– equity investments
– loans

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

59,879
46,899

73,386
29,999

106,778

103,385

(59,669)
(5,374)

(53,169)
(5,188)

41,735

45,028

The loans to subsidiaries of $46,899,000 (2008: $29,999,000) are unsecured and non-interest bearing.
The settlement of the loans is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. As these
amounts are, in substance, a part of the entity’s net investment in the subsidiary, they are stated at
cost less impairment losses.
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Details of subsidiaries are as follows:
Name of company
Held by the Company
Centillion Environment &
Recycling (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Centillion Investment UK Pte. Ltd.
Centillion Investment China
Pte. Ltd.
Metech International, Inc.
(“Metech”)@
Centillion Investment USA Pte.
Ltd. (“CI-USA”)
Centx Pte Ltd (formerly known as
Centeonyx Pte Ltd)#
Held by the subsidiaries
Metech International, Inc.
(“Metech”)@
Centillion Environment & Recycling
(Wuxi) Co., Ltd (“CER-Wuxi”)
(formerly known as Citiraya
Industries (Wuxi) Co., Ltd.)
Centillion Environmental
Services Wuxi Co., Ltd
(formerly known as Wuxi Green
Bamboo Environmental
Protection Services Co., Ltd)
Centillion Environment &
Recycling UK Limited
@

#

Country of
incorporation

Republic of
Singapore
Republic of
Singapore
Republic of
Singapore
United States
of America
Republic of
Singapore
Republic of
Singapore

Effective equity held by the Group
2009
2008
100

100

100

100

100

100

–

100

100

100

100

50

United States
of America
People’s
Republic of
China

100

–

100

100

People’s
Republic of
China

100

100

United Kingdom

100

100

Previously held by the Company. Equity interest in Metech was transferred to CI-USA during the year (note
34(c)).
Classified as a joint venture as at 30 June 2008 (note 6). Under members’ voluntary liquidation.

KPMG LLP Singapore is the auditor of all significant Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries. The following
significant foreign-incorporated subsidiaries are audited by other auditors:
•
•

CER-Wuxi is audited by Fangzheng Accountants., Co Ltd, Jiangsu, PRC.
Metech is audited by Fiondella, Milone & Lasaracina LLP, Connecticut, USA.

For this purpose, a subsidiary is considered significant as defined under the SGX-ST Listing Manual if
its net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated net tangible assets, or if its
pre-tax profits account for 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits.
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Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries
Note 34 sets out the details of the acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries during the financial year. In
addition, the Company recognised an increase in cost of investment of $210,000, being the fair value
of share options granted to certain employees of Metech.
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Group evaluates, amongst other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an
investment in subsidiary is less than its cost, the financial health of and near term business outlook for
the investment in subsidiary, including factors such as industry and sector performance, and changes
in technology and operational and financing cash flows, to assess the recoverable amounts of its
investments in subsidiaries.
Differences between the actual performance of the subsidiaries and management’s annual impairment
review estimates will affect the results of the period in which such differences are determined. An
increase in impairment losses will increase other operating expenses and decrease non-current
assets.
6

Joint Venture
Company

Equity investments, at cost
Impairment losses

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

–
–

6,500
(3,165)

–

3,335

As at 30 June 2008, the investment in joint venture represented a 50% interest in Centx Pte Ltd (formally
known as Centeonyx Pte Ltd (“Centeonyx”)), a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on
12 January 2007. This joint venture was formed between the Company and an external party, Veolia
Environmental Services Asia Pte Ltd (“VES”).
Impairment Losses
For the financial period ended 30 June 2008, impairment loss of $3,165,000 was recognised based on
the Company’s assessment of the recoverable amount of the investment in the joint venture which
was estimated based on the present value of future cash flows, being the expected cash flows of the
joint venture for the next 3 years.
In March 2009, the Company entered into a termination agreement with VES to terminate the joint
venture (note 34(d)). As part of the termination agreement, VES sold its entire equity interest held in
Centeonyx to the Company for a cash consideration of $1, and Centeonyx was renamed Centx Pte Ltd
(“Centx”). Accordingly, the investment in Centx held by the Company was reclassified as a subsidiary
as at 30 June 2009 (note 5).
KPMG LLP Singapore is the auditor of this joint venture.
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With effect from 1 April 2009, Centx is considered a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and has
been consolidated into the Group. Prior to 1 April 2009, it was proportionately consolidated based on
the Group’s share of assets, liabilities and results of the joint venture entity. The summarised financial
information of the joint venture presented below represents the Group’s proportionate share of the
joint venture in 2009 (up till 31 March 2009) and 2008.
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets
Current assets

NA
NA

2,784
1,812

Total assets

NA

4,596

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

NA
NA

–
(1,368)

Total liabilities

NA

(1,368)

Results
Revenue
Expenses

1,747
(4,944)

2,477
(5,749)

Loss after taxation

(3,197)

(3,272)

NA: Not applicable

7

Restricted Cash Held in Trust
Group

Non-current
Cash held in trust for closure costs
Tax refund held in trust for the Scheme
Current
Cash held in trust for closure costs

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

–
4,590

589
–

–
4,590

–
–

4,590

589

4,590

–

636

–

–

–

As a licensed TSD (Treatment, Storage, and Disposal of hazardous waste) facility in the State of California,
Metech, is required to maintain a certain amount of funds in trust to cover potential environmental
closeout costs of Metech’s facility in California. The Trust Fund Agreement with the State of California
Department of Toxic Substance Control provides assurance that funds will be available when needed
for closure and/or post closure care of the facility. These funds are held in a separate trust account and
are not available for routine operating expenses.
Metech is in the process of decommissioning specific machinery and equipment relating to the
precious metals business. Upon completion, such funds will be released by the State of California and
refunded to Metech. The process is likely to be completed within the next twelve months. Accordingly,
the restricted cash held in trust of $636,000 (2008: $589,000) has been classified as current assets as
at 30 June 2009.
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Prior to the Company’s commencement of judicial management in November 2005, the Company
paid $4.59 million of tax assessed in advance by the Comptroller of Income Tax of Singapore (“CIT”)
for the year of assessment of 2005 (“YA2005 Tax”). As part of the restructuring of the Company in
2006, under the CERL Scheme of Arrangement and Compromise (“the Scheme”), a claim in respect of
YA2005 Tax had been assigned to the Scheme. During the current financial year, CIT refunded $4.59
million of the YA2005 Tax to the Company. As the CIT has yet to finalise the tax assessment for YA2005,
management has accordingly recorded an amount of $4,590,000 being funds held in trust for the
Scheme (as interest-bearing fixed deposits with weighted average effective interest rate of 0.013%)
as a non-current liability as at 30 June 2009.
8

Intangible Asset
Group

Goodwill arising on consolidation
Less: Impairment loss

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

19,289
(8,634)

16,032
–

10,655

16,032

In August 2008, the Company acquired the entire membership interest of GRX (Computer & Electronics
Recycling, LLC) for a cash consideration of US$4,375,000 (S$6,217,000), which is subject to upward
adjustments. As at 30 June 2009, the Group has recognised goodwill of $3,257,000 resulting from the
acquisition of GRX (note 34(b)).
In October 2007, the Company acquired the entire issued and paid up capital of Metech for a cash
consideration of US$12,000,000 (S$17,700,000), which is subject to upward adjustments. As at 30 June
2008, the Group has recognised goodwill of $16,032,000 resulting from the acquisition of Metech
(note 34(a)).
Impairment test for cash-generating units containing goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash generating units (CGU)
identified. As at 30 June 2009, the entire goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operations in the United
States of America.
The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculations. The key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculations were discount rates, growth rates and expected changes
to selling prices and direct costs. Management estimated discount rates to reflect risks specific to
the CGU. The growth rates used were based on industry growth forecasts and took into account the
strategic direction of the CGU. Changes in selling prices and direct costs were based on past practices
and expectations of future changes in the market.
In the interim financial statements as at 31 December 2008, management assessed and determined
the recoverable amount of goodwill to be lower than its carrying amount. Accordingly, impairment
loss of $8,634,000 was recognised in the income statement.
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Key assumptions used as at 31 December 2008 were as follows:
•
•
•

Cash flows were projected based on actual operating results and the 3-year business plan. Cash
flows for a further 7-year period were extrapolated assuming zero growth. No terminal value
was included in the cash flow projection.
Annual revenue was forecasted to decline by 32% in 2009 due to the global economic crisis,
and growth to fluctuate between 2% to 5% for the years 2011 – 2012. No revenue growth was
projected from 2013 onwards.
The pre-tax discount rate used was 12.42%.

At 30 June 2009, management reassessed and determined the recoverable amount of goodwill to be
in excess of its carrying amount. No additional impairment of goodwill is necessary as at 30 June 2009.
In accordance with the accounting policy of the Group as set out in note 3.8, impairment of goodwill
of $8,634,000 made during the interim period was not reversed.
Key assumptions used as at 30 June 2009 were as follows:
•
•
•
•

Cash flows were projected based on actual operating results and the 3-year business plan. Cash
flows for a further 7-year period were extrapolated assuming zero growth. No terminal value
was included in the cash flow projection.
Annual revenue was forecasted to decline by 62% in 2010 due to significant curtailment of
the precious metals business in US, and growth to fluctuate between 11% to 48% for the years
2011 – 2012. No revenue growth was projected from 2013 onwards.
The Group targets to expand its collection network and increase its market share of e-recycling
business in US.
The pre-tax discount rate used was 12.42%.

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the unexpected future cash flows from
the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
9

Land Use Rights
Group
$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2007
Exchange differences
Disposal

4,794
127
(2,088)

At 30 June 2008
Exchange differences

2,833
140

At 30 June 2009

2,973
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Group
$’000
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2007
Exchange differences
Disposal
Amortisation charge for the period

312
12
(195)
142

At 30 June 2008
Exchange differences
Amortisation charge for the year

271
12
61

At 30 June 2009

344

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2007

4,482

At 30 June 2008

2,562

At 30 June 2009

2,629

The Group, through CER-Wuxi, has land use rights to a plot of land located within the Wuxi National
New and Hi-Tech Industrial Development Zone expiring in September 2053 from the Wuxi State Owned
Land Resources Bureau.
In December 2007, CER-Wuxi entered into a further supplementary agreement for the purpose of
restructuring its registered share capital. Under this agreement, CER-Wuxi agreed to return a portion
of the land acquired above to the New District Land Reserve Depository Bureau for a consideration
of RMB10,164,000 (S$2,017,000). Accordingly, a gain arising from the return of land amounting to
RMB791,000 (S$157,000) had been recognised in the income statement for the financial period ended
30 June 2008.
In March 2009, CER-Wuxi pledged its land use rights to a bank in China as security for a term loan of
RMB10 million (S$2.2 million). As at 30 June 2009, CER-Wuxi had drawn down RMB5 million (S$1.1
million) from this loan facility (note 16).
10

Inventories
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Raw materials
Semi-finished goods

3,742
4,220

7,545
12,879

Impairment losses

7,962
(333)

20,424
(293)

Total inventories at lower of cost and net
realisable value

7,629

20,131
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During the financial year, raw materials and semi-finished goods recognised in cost of sales amounted
to $69,406,000 (2008: $63,458,000).
Owing to an increase in the trading price of the underlying precious metals in certain electronic
wastes, allowances for write-down of inventories amounting to $396,000 (2008: $876,000) have been
reversed by the Group. In addition, additional allowances of $436,000 were made to write down certain
inventories to their net realisable value based on management’s estimates.
As at balance sheet date, $7,511,000 (2008: $19,449,000) of inventories of the Group has been pledged
as security under a line of credit agreement (note 16).
11

Trade Receivables
Group

Trade receivables
Amounts due from affiliate
Amounts due from joint venture
Impairment losses
– trade receivables

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

16,287
138
–

18,462
438
496

680
–
–

1,608
–
–

16,425

19,396

680

1,608

(13,615)

(15,233)

(526)

(1,276)

2,810

4,163

154

332

Amounts due from affiliate and joint venture are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
An affiliated company is one which has common directors or shareholders as the Company.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date (by geographical
segment) is as follows:
Group
Company
2009
2008
2009
2008
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Geographical segment
United States of America
2,055
2,263
–
–
Singapore
501
1,498
154
332
United Kingdom
174
402
–
–
China
80
–
–
–
2,810

4,163

154

332
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Impairment losses

Group
Not past due
Past due 0 – 30 days
Past due 31 – 120 days
More than 120 days
Company
Not past due
Past due 0 – 30 days
Past due 31 – 120 days
More than 120 days

Gross
2009
$’000

Impairment
losses
2009
$’000

Gross
2008
$’000

Impairment
losses
2008
$’000

1,745
223
433
14,024

–
–
(41)
(13,574)

1,895
896
847
15,758

(545)
(223)
–
(14,465)

16,425

(13,615)

19,396

(15,233)

–
–
–
680

–
–
–
(526)

332
–
–
1,276

–
–
–
(1,276)

680

(526)

1,608

(1,276)

The change in impairment loss in respect of trade receivables during the year/period is as follows:
Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

At beginning of year/period
Translation difference
Utilisation
Impairment loss reversed

15,233
205
(1,738)
(85)

28,159
(576)
(12,345)
(5)

1,276
–
(750)
–

19,564
(193)
(12,345)
(5,750)

At end of year/period

13,615

15,233

526

1,276

During the financial year, the Group and the Company recognised reversal of impairment loss of
$85,000 and $Nil (2008: $5,000 and $5,750,000) respectively, consequent to a debt recovery assessment
performed on trade receivables as at 30 June 2009.
The Group’s historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded
allowances. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk beyond amounts
provided for collection losses is inherent in the Group’s trade receivables.
As at balance sheet date, $2,055,000 (2008: $2,248,000) of receivables of the Group has been pledged
as security under a line of credit agreement (note 16).
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Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Group provides for impairment loss on estimated losses resulting from the subsequent inability
of customers to make required payments. If the financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required
in future periods. Management specifically analyses accounts receivables and historical bad debts,
customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer
payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful receivables.
12

Other Receivables
Group

Downpayment in respect of
construction of a plant
Advances made
Sundry debtors
Recoverables
Tax recoverable
Prepayments
Deposits
Amounts due from affiliate
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from joint venture
Others
Impairment losses
– external parties
– subsidiaries

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

1,655
15
691
643
1,136
328
1,081
–
–
–
–

1,655
29
2,955
829
–
269
919
178
–
638
51

1,655
16
149
373
–
77
955
–
28,731
–
–

1,655
29
77
680
–
110
806
178
29,670
987
–

5,549

7,523

31,956

34,192

(2,282)
–

(2,369)
–

(1,782)
(24,781)

(1,773)
(25,382)

3,267

5,154

5,393

7,037

As at 30 June 2009, except for an interest-bearing amount due from a subsidiary of $2,624,000, the
amounts due from affiliates, subsidiaries and joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
receivable on demand.
The interest-bearing amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, repayable on demand and bears
interest ranging from 3.75% to 5.5% per annum. Interest rate reprices annually, based on US bank
prime rate plus 0.5%.
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The change in impairment loss in respect of other receivables during the year/period is as follows:
2009
$’000

Group

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

At beginning of year/period
Impairment loss reversed
Utilisation

2,369
–
(87)

4,039
(1,670)
–

27,155
(592)
–

32,268
(5,113)
–

At end of year/period

2,282

2,369

26,563

27,155

During the financial year, net reversal of impairment loss of $Nil (2008: $1,670,000) and $592,000
(2008: $5,113,000) was recognised in the income statements of the Group and Company respectively,
consequent to a debt recovery assessment performed on other receivables as at 30 June 2009.
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Group provides for impairment loss on estimated losses resulting from the subsequent inability
of counterparties to make required repayments. If the financial conditions of counterparties were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make repayments, additional allowances may
be required in future periods.
13

Cash and Cash Equivalents
2009
$’000

Group

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Short-term deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

–
1,236

4,266
6,854

–
597

4,219
–

Deposit pledged

1,236
–

11,120
(50)

597
–

4,219
–

Cash and cash equivalents in
the consolidated cash flow statements

1,236

11,070

597

4,219

Short term deposits at the balance sheet date have an average maturity of 7 days (2008: 7 days) from
the end of the year/period and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates. The weighted
average effective interest rate of short term deposits is 0.013% (2008: 1.5698%) per annum.
The deposit pledged as at 30 June 2008 represented bank balances pledged as security to obtain
credit facilities.
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Share Capital
Group and Company
2009

Issued and fully paid
At beginning of year/period
Issuance of ordinary shares for cash,
net of expenses
Conversion of convertible notes to
ordinary shares, net of expenses
At end of year/period

2008

No. of
shares
(‘000)

$’000

No. of
shares
(‘000)

4,983,088

131,650

2,529,931

91,716

1,198,400

10,106

1,897,448

16,100

–

–

555,709

23,834

6,181,488

141,756

4,983,088

131,650

$’000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the
Company’s residual assets.
The Company has an employee share option plan (note 29) under which options to subscribe for the
Company’s ordinary shares have been granted to Directors and employees.
During the financial year, the Company issued and allotted 1,198,400,000 ordinary shares relating to a
settlement agreement entered into in April 2008 with a professional service firm (note 19).
A total of 1,897,448,344 share options with an exercise price of $0.008485 per share, that arose from
the restructuring of the Group, were fully exercised and applicable shares issued during the financial
period ended 30 June 2008.
Capital Management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the
return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity
excluding minority interest. The Board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Other reserves
2009
$’000

Currency translation reserve
Share option reserve

Group

2008
$’000

59

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2,170
1,537

120
1,327

–
1,537

–
1,327

3,707

1,447

1,537

1,327

The currency translation reserve records all exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations where the functional currencies are different from that of
the Company’s functional currency.
The share option reserve comprises the cumulative value of employee services received for the issue
of share options.
16

Borrowings
2009
$’000

Secured
– RMB working capital loan
– Mortgaged note
– Revolving lines of credit
– Subordinated note
– Revolving term loans
– Promissory note
Total borrowings
Less: Current portion*
Long-term portion
*

Group

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

1,060
4,015
3,613
–
931
90

–
–
8,160
4,080
1,096
378

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

9,709
(9,639)

13,714
(12,748)

–
–

–
–

70

966

–

–

During the financial year, the non-current portion of $4.5 million (US$3.1 million) has been reclassified to current
liabilities due to a breach of covenant as detailed below.

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:
Secured RMB working capital loan
The loan is secured by land use rights of a subsidiary, CER-Wuxi, to finance its working capital.
The loan bears fixed interest at 5.58% (2008: NA) per annum, and is repayable monthly. The duration
of the loan is from April 2009 to April 2010 and is classified as a current liability in the balance sheet
as at 30 June 2009.
Secured mortgage note, revolving lines of credit, subordinated note, revolving term loans and
promissory note
These loans and notes are generally secured by assets of Metech, to finance its working capital and
purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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Details of credit facilities and related assets pledged are set out below:
•

Secured mortgage note
The mortgage note has a principal amount of US$2.9 million (S$4.2 million) and matures on
31 July 2018. The principal payments of US$9,600 plus interest are payable monthly. During
the financial year, interest is calculated at LIBOR plus 2.25%, ranging from 3.91% to 5.33%
(2008: NA) from 31 July 2008 to 28 February 2009, and thereafter fixed at 4.94% until maturity.
The note is secured by a first interest in a property of Metech.
In September 2009, the bank informed Metech that it was in breach of its covenant by failing
to comply with the debt service coverage ratio at all times. As a result of the covenant breach,
the balance of $4.0 million can be called for repayment at any time upon notification by the
bank. The outstanding balance has been classified as current liabilities. Metech is currently in
negotiation with the bank to waive the covenant breach and maintain the original repayment
terms.

•

Secured revolving lines of credit
Metech maintains a revolving line of credit with a bank based in the US. This line of credit
allows for borrowing of up to US$10 million (S$14.5 million) based on certain levels of eligible
inventory as defined in the agreement. It bears interest on the outstanding balance at LIBOR plus
3%, ranging from 3.5% to 13% (2008: 5.3% to 8.32%) during the financial year, and is payable
weekly. It is secured by a first lien over Metech’s inventory, receivables and the related forward
contracts. Metech is required to comply with certain financial covenants.
In August 2009, the bank informed Metech that it was in breach of its financial covenant by
failing to maintain a tangible net worth plus subordinated debt of not less than US$5 million
and a minimum working capital of not less than US$3.5 million at all times. As a result of this
covenant breach, the short-term bank loan of US$2.2 million (S$3.2 million) as at 30 June 2009
can be called for repayment at any time upon notification by the bank.
Subsequently in August 2009, Metech has obtained a waiver from the bank for the default, and
negotiated for amendments to the terms of covenants so as to facilitate the winding down
of the credit line (which is no longer required with the curtailment of the precious metals
business in the US subsidiary). The waiver and amendments have been granted on the mutual
understanding that the loan balance would be fully repaid by 30 September 2009. As at 30
September 2009, US$1 million (S$1.5 million) remains outstanding. The bank has agreed to
grant a further extension of the credit line to 15 November 2009.
In addition, Metech maintains another line of credit with another bank which allows for
borrowing of up to US$500,000 (S$723,000). It bears interest on the outstanding balance at the
bank’s prime rate plus 0.50%, ranging from 3.75% to 5.5% (2008: NA) during the financial year,
and is payable weekly. It is secured by an interest in equipment held by Metech. As at balance
sheet date, $430,000 (2008: $ NA) was outstanding on this credit line.

•

Secured subordinated note
This promissory note was secured by a secondary lien over a property of Metech and is
subordinated to Secured promissory note below. It bore interest at 6.5% per annum. All accrued
interest and principal amounts were due and payable in July 2009. In July 2008, this note was
refinanced by the Secured mortgage note as detailed earlier in this note.
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•

Secured revolving term loans
The secured revolving term loans consist of five-year term loans repayable in monthly
instalments from July 2006 and maturing between September 2011 and January 2012. They
bear fixed interest, ranging from 6.43% to 7.89% during the financial year. They are secured
by a lien over specifically identified equipment of Metech. The secured revolving term loans
are due to the same bank as the secured mortgage note above. The outstanding balance of
$931,000 has been classified as current liabilities.

•

Secured promissory note
The principal amount plus interest for the promissory note, are payable monthly until July 2009,
at which time, all remaining principal amounts are due and payable. It bears interest at 7.64%
per annum and is secured by a first lien over a property of Metech.
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Finance Lease Liabilities
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Amounts payable under finance leases
– within 1 year
– after 1 year but within 5 years

–
–

269
172

–
–

–
–

Future finance charges

–
–

441
(61)

–
–

–
–

Present value of lease obligations
Amounts due for settlement within
12 months (shown under
current liabilities)

–

380

–

–

–

(232)

–

–

Amounts due for settlement after
12 months

–

148

–

–

The finance lease liabilities have been fully repaid as at 30 June 2009. During the financial year, the
effective borrowing rate was 4.98% to 6.17% (2008: 4.98% to 6.17%) per annum.
The finance lease liabilities were secured by a charge over the leased assets (see note 4) and discharged
in the financial year.
The finance lease liabilities were denominated in Pounds Sterling.
18

Trade Payables
Group

Trade payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

5,568
–

4,613
–

5
–

5
275

5,568

4,613

5

280

Amounts due to subsidiaries were unsecured, interest-free and fully settled during the financial year.
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Other Payables
2009
$’000

Accrued operating expenses
Sundry creditors
Fair value of forward contracts
Accrued liabilities due to customers
Accrual for
– professional fees
– settlement in shares of assertion from
   a professional service firm (Note A)
– staff costs
– outstanding payable arising from
   acquisition of Metech & GRX
   (notes 34(a) and 34(b))
Amount due to Equation Corp Limited

Group

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

3,350
4,708
–
28

497
3,671
171
2,781

1,608
2,502
–
28

–
2,416
–
–

639

552

373

397

–
315

10,168
971

–
102

10,168
592

4,540
500

2,470
–

4,540
500

2,470
–

14,080

21,281

9,653

16,043

The amount due to Equation Corp Limited is unsecured, repayable on the earlier of the completion of
the rights issue or 31 December 2009, and bears interest at 7% per annum.
Note A:
In April 2008, the Company and a professional services firm entered into a settlement agreement on
the assertion of claims relating to services that had been provided to the Company prior to November
2005 on the following terms:
•

the parties agreed that a sum of $2,527,000 (and the applicable Goods and Services Tax) being
settlement of professional fees would be paid in cash in various installments by 31 December
2008; and

•

the Company would pay to the professional services firm a value added fee of $9,503,000 (and
the applicable Goods and Services Tax). Payment would be settled through the issuance of new
ordinary shares in the Company at the issue price of $0.008485 per share. This issue of shares
shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations.

The above settlement would be the full and final settlement of all claims that the professional services
firm has against the Group. In view of the settlement agreement, an expense of $12,030,000 was
recognised in the income statement for the prior financial period. A cash amount of $500,000 was
paid in 2008 and as at 30 June 2008, the Company made an accrual of $10,168,000 (inclusive of GST of
$700,000) being settlement in shares, and recognised $2,200,000 as sundry creditors.
On 24 October 2008, 1.198 billion new shares were issued to the professional services firm, being full
settlement of the liabilities of $10,168,000 (note 14). As at 30 June 2009, the outstanding amount
payable to the professional services firm included in the sundry creditors amounted to $1,700,000.
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Deferred Tax Asset

Group
2009
Property, plant and equipment
Tax value of loss carry-forward
Tax benefits arising from
tax-deductible goodwill
Other items
Total

At 1 July
$’000

Recognised
in income Acquisition
statement
of
(note 26)
subsidiary
$’000
$’000

Exchange
differences
$’000

63

At 30 June
$’000

–
–

46
1,469

–
–

–
–

46
1,469

–
–

(99)
294

1,586
–

–
–

1,487
294

–

1,710

1,586

–

3,296

Tax benefits arising from tax-deductible goodwill relate to tax benefits arising on goodwill of US$2.9
million from the acquisition of Computer & Electronics Recycling, LLC. (“GRX”) during the financial year.
The goodwill will be amortised over 15 years in accordance with relevant tax laws in US.
At balance sheet date, the following temporary differences have not been recognised:
Group

Tax losses

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

19,494

15,459

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000
–

–

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of certain tax losses because it is not probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise these tax benefits. The
tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the
respective countries in which certain subsidiaries operate.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2006, there was a substantial change in the ownership
of the Company which can have the effect of restricting the carry forward of tax losses of $14,059,000.
The Group intends to apply to the Minister of Finance for the carry forward of tax losses to be available
for future utilisation.
21

Revenue

Sale of goods
Rendering of services

Group
Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

63,312
14,120

69,486
14,292

77,432

83,778

64
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Other Operating Income

Group
Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Reversal of impairment loss
– inventories
– property, plant and equipment
– receivables
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Gain arising from settlement of a dispute over
ownership of materials
Bad debts recovered
Interest income
Rental income
Sundry income

23

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

–
–
85

876
3,096
388

(10)

2,881

–
–
8
414
86

1,390
311
261
638
860

583

10,701

Other Operating Expenses

The following items have been included in arriving at other operating expenses:
Group
Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000
Plant and equipment written off
Inventories written off
Restructuring cost
Loss on exchange
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on property, plant & equipment
Employees’ share option expense
Settlement of assertion from a professional service firm

125
–
1,400
556
8,634
2,494
210
–

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000
893
48
–
396
–
–
–
12,030

Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited
Annual Report 2009

24

65

Finance Expense
Group
Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000
Interest expense on borrowings
Finance charges payable under finance leases
Other finance cost

752
53
117

1,013
63
–

922

1,076

25
Loss before Income Tax
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been
included in arriving at loss before income tax:
Group
Period from
1/1/2007 to
Year ended
30/6/2008
30/6/2009
$’000
$’000
Impairment loss on inventories
Operating lease expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Directors’ remuneration – Directors of the Company
Directors’ fees – Directors of the Company
26

40
2,349
1,526
550
570

223
1,813
2,152
917
340

Income Tax
Group
Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Current income tax
– current year
– overprovision in prior years
Deferred tax assets
– provision

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

(961)
(504)

1,098
–

(1,465)

1,098

(1,710)

–

(3,175)

1,098
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Reconciliations between tax expense and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable
corporate tax rate for the year/period ended 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
Group

Accounting loss before income tax
Tax expense calculated using Singapore tax rate of
17% (2008: 18%)
Effect of different tax rates in other countries
Income not subject to tax
Overprovision in prior years
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax benefits
Deferred tax benefits not recognised

Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

(29,082)

(13,421)

(4,943)
(1,547)
(79)
(504)
3,212
–
686

(2,416)
583
(713)
–
3,392
(465)
717

(3,175)

1,098

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved
in determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.
27

Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is based on:
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders

Group
Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

(25,907)

(14,519)

(‘000)

No. of shares

(‘000)

Issued ordinary shares at beginning of the year/period
Effect of shares issued
Effect of conversion of convertible notes

4,983,088
820,822
–

2,529,931
1,203,683
210,104

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
at the end of the year/period

5,803,910

3,943,718
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Group

Diluted loss per share is based on:
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders

Year ended
30/6/2009
$’000

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/6/2008
$’000

(25,907)

(14,519)

No. of shares
(‘000)

(‘000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
basic earnings per share computation
Dilutive effect of share options

5,803,910
–

3,943,718
–

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted
for the effect of dilution

5,803,910

3,943,718

For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue is adjusted to take into account the dilutive effect arising from the dilutive share options,
with the potential ordinary shares weighted for the period outstanding.
The diluted loss per share was shown as the same amount as the basic loss per share as the share
options were anti-dilutive and disregarded in the computation of diluted loss per share.
28
Commitments
The Group leases certain warehouse and factory facilities under operating leases. These leases have a
life of between 1 and 8 years. There are no restrictions placed upon the Group or Company by entering
into these leases.
Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Group

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years
After 5 years

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2,145
5,947
3,820

1,893
4,659
4,788

968
4,071
3,739

950
3,991
4,787

11,912

11,340

8,778

9,728
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Group
2009
$’000
Approved and contracted for
– purchase of plant and equipment
– construction costs for a plant
Approved but not contracted for
– purchase of plant and equipment
29

2008
$’000
–
–

1,808
–

–

1,808

–

2,750

Employee Benefits
Group

Employee benefits expense (including
 Executive Directors)
Salaries and bonuses
Central Provident Fund contributions
Employee share option expense
Other short-term benefits

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

9,535
326
210
1,578

11,445
416
–
1,060

11,649

12,921

Employee Share Option Plans
The Centillion Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved by the members of the Company at
an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 13 June 2002 and as amended by the Company on 14 May
2009. The Scheme is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee.
The members of the Remuneration Committee as at the date of this report are as follows:
Lee Kee Way Irwin (Chairman)
Jen Shek Voon
Tan Cheng Han
Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:
•

Up to 50% of the options may be exercised at any time after 12 months and the remaining
50% of the option at any time after 24 months from the date of grant of that option. The
Remuneration Committee may designate certain options to be exercised in full after 36 months
from the date of grant of that option;

•

The subscription price of the option may be at set a price at a discount up to 20% of Market
Price, at Market Price or up to 200% of Market Price. For the purpose of the Scheme, Market
Price is defined as the average of the last dealt prices per Share determined by reference to
the daily official list published by the SGX-ST for a period of five (5) consecutive market days
immediately prior to the relevant Date of Grant;

Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited
Annual Report 2009

69

•

All options are settled by physical delivery of shares; and

•

The options granted expire after five years for non-executive and 10 years for the employees
of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Movements in the number of share options and their related weighted average exercise prices are as
follows:
2009
2008
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
exercise
No. of
exercise
No. of
price
options
price
options
$
(‘000)
$
(‘000)
At beginning of period
Additional grant
Forfeited

0.399
0.028
0.540

At end of period
Exercisable at balance sheet date

0.399

15,280
300,000
(1,485)

0.399
–
0.520

15,940
–
(660)

313,795

0.399

15,280

13,795

0.399

15,280

Share options outstanding at the end of the year/period have the following expiry dates and exercise
prices:
Exercise
Options
Date of grant of options
Expiry date
price
outstanding
2009
2008
$
(‘000)
(‘000)
27 June 2002
20 November 2003
26 August 2004
14 May 2009

27 June 2012
20 November 2013
20 November 2014
14 May 2019

0.200
0.400
0.540
0.028

4,263
5,002
4,530
300,000

4,263
5,002
6,015
–

313,795

15,280

The weighted average remaining contractual life for these options is 9.63 years (2008: 5.30 years).
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted was measured by reference to
the fair value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received was
measured based on a Black-Scholes model. The expected life used in the model had been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations. The inputs of the model used in estimating the fair value of share options
on respective grant dates above are shown below:

70

Centillion Environment & Recycling Limited
Annual Report 2009

Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of options
Weighted average share price

Fair Values of
Options Granted
on 14 May 2009

Fair Values of
Options Granted
prior to 1 July 2008

0%
150%
2.1%
2 to 3 years
$0.015

1.22% to 1.82%
40%
1.12% to 1.93%
6 years
$0.48 to $0.715

The expected life of the options was based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflected the assumption that the historical volatility
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
30
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls
in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing
the risks. The management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that
an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.
(a)
Credit risk
The Group has a credit policy in place which establishes credit limits for customers and monitors their
balances on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which
are regulated. As at balance sheet date, 50% (2008: 41%) of the bank balances was placed with one
bank.
At balance sheet date, 4 (2008: 5) customers represented approximately 51% (2008: 47%) of the trade
receivable balance. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of
financial assets in the balance sheet.
(b)
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows.
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The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflow of financial liabilities, including
interest expense:
Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows
Carrying
Contractual
within
within
after
amount
cash flows
1 year
1 to 5 years
5 years
Group
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
2009
Borrowings
9,709
(9,779)
(9,705)
(74)
–
Trade and other payables
19,648
(19,648)
(19,648)
–
–
2008
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liabilities

29,357

(29,427)

(29,353)

(74)

–

13,714
25,894
380

(14,169)
(25,894)
(440)

(8,160)
(25,894)
(268)

(6,009)
–
(172)

–
–
–

39,988

(40,503)

(34,322)

(6,181)

–

The expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of trade and other payables for the Company
are expected to occur within one year and equivalent to their carrying amounts.
(c)
Interest rate risk
The Group’s floating-rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of changes in interest rates. Short-term
receivables and payables are not exposed to interest rate risk.
Sensitivity analysis
For variable rate financial assets and liabilities, a change of 10% in interest rate at the reporting date
would increase (decrease) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all
other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.
Profit or Loss
Group
Company
10%
10%
10%
10%
Increase
decrease
Increase
decrease
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
2009
Variable rate instruments
(75)
75
–
–
2008
Variable rate instruments

(56)

56

–

–
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(d)
Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and short-term deposits that are
denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The
currencies giving rise to this risk is primarily the Singapore Dollar, Chinese Renminbi, United States
(“US”) Dollar and Pounds Sterling.
2009
2008
US
Pounds
Chinese
Singapore
US
Pounds
Dollar
Sterling
Renminbi
Dollar
Dollar
Sterling
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Group
Trade and other receivables
4,021
–
–
–
748
314
Cash and cash equivalent
–
–
–
3,281
99
–
Trade and other payables
(4,663)
–
(87)
–
(1,379)
–
Company
Cash and cash equivalent
Trade and other payables

(642)

–

(87)

3,281

(532)

314

–
(4,540)

–
–

–
–

–
–

83
(134)

–
–

(4,540)

–

–

–

(51)

–

A 10% strengthening of the Group’s major functional currencies against the following currencies at the
reporting date would increase/(decrease) equity and profit or loss by the amount shown below. This
analysis assumes that all the other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

2009
US Dollar
Pounds Sterling
Chinese Renminbi
2008
Singapore Dollar
US Dollar
Pounds Sterling

Equity
$’000

Group
Profit or Loss
$’000

Company
Equity
Profit or Loss
$’000
$’000

–
–
–

64
–
9

–
–
–

454
–
–

–
–
–

(328)
53
(31)

–
–
–

–
5
–

A 10% weakening of the Group’s major functional currencies against the above currencies would have
had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amount shown below, on the basis
that all the other variables remain constant.
(e)
Commodity price risk
The Group’s inventories, principally certain precious and base metals, are exposed to commodity
price risk due to changes in metal prices. In order to mitigate these risks, the Group hedges against
fluctuations in metal prices through the use of principal-to-principal forward contracts. The Group
manages its exposure based on the net overall position of its hedges on its individual portfolio of similar
metals. With the curtailment of the precious metal business in US, the Group will not have significant
commodity risk going forward.
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As at 30 June 2009, the Group does not have significant outstanding forward contracts. As at 30 June
2008, the Group had outstanding forward contracts with the following notional principal values.

Agreements to purchase
Gold
Silver
Platinum
Palladium
Copper
Agreements to sell
Gold
Silver
Palladium
Copper

Group
2008
Notional amount
$’000
2,650
358
281
64
128
3,481
5,637
1,766
1,024
995
9,422

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening/weakening in commodity prices would increase/decrease the Group’s profit or
loss by an insignificant amount (2008: $392,000). This analysis assumes that all other variables remain
constant.
31
Fair values
(a)
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting
date. For finance leases, the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease
agreements.
The fair values of borrowings and finance leases approximate their carrying amounts and are as
disclosed in notes 16 and 17 respectively.
(b)
Other financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) are assumed
to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity. All other financial assets and
liabilities are discounted to determine their fair values.
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32
Related parties
(a)
Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation comprised:
Group
Year ended
30/6/2009
($’000)
Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ fees

Period from
1/1/2007 to
30/9/2008
($’000)

550
570

917
340

1,120

1,257

Directors also participate in the Employees Share Option Scheme. No share options were granted to
the Directors of the Company during the period (2008: nil).
(b)
(i)

Other related party transactions
During the financial year, the Company engaged the professional services of a firm in which a
director of the Company is a member, for fees amounting to $740,929 (2008: $511,000). These
services were conducted at arms-length basis and on normal commercial terms when the need
arises.

(ii)

At the end of the financial year, the Company received a loan amount of $500,000 from Equation
Corp Ltd, a substantial shareholder of the Company (see note 36(c)).

33
Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s geographical segments which are based
on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.
Inter-segment pricing is determined on mutually agreed terms.
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items attributable to segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly investment, income tax and
deferred tax liabilities, borrowings and related expenses. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost
incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment.
The Group operates in four geographical areas – the United States of America, Singapore, People’s
Republic of China and United Kingdom.
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of a one-stop recycling and processing service centre
for the electronics industry and the trading of plastics and non-precious metal materials. Accordingly,
no segment analysis by business is presented.

468
346
–
–
–
–
–
–

19
418
–
–
1,110
10
(85)
40

803
1,082
–
–
(3,096)
(2,631)
(34)
(585)

5,264
184
61
–
1,047
–
–
–

5,833
139
142
–
–
643
(47)
(68)

–
297
–
–
–
–
–
–

6,184

83
443
–
–
–
–
(307)
–

5,946

(510)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(76,869)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(38,641)

(28,849)

5,750
1,465
61
8,634
2,494
10
(85)
40

977
566
–
8,634
337
–
–
–

31,180

(47,468)

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment loss on goodwill
(Reversal of) impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(Reversal)/Allowance for doubtful receivables
Allowance/(reversal) for inventories obsolescence

31,893

1,525

(922)

(28,160)

34,253

16,305

921

–

(271)

Total liabilities

36,015

26,343

–

(510)

77,432

66,914
25,198

25,544

(60)

(1,601)

(1,241)

33,947
306

36,724

57,060

(53)

(1,047)

–

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

54,559

–

(2,001)

4,597

Total assets

30,860

(14)

(2,510)

2,486

66,914
–

33,358

(202)

(12,079)

117

2009
$’000

(25,907)

(117)

(8,190)

107

Elimination
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

(814)

3,607

6,896

United Kingdom
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Loss for the year/period

(738)

Finance expense

2,127

People’s Republic of China
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

(29,082)
3,175

(15,903)

Segment results

73,409

Singapore
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Loss before income tax
Income tax

72,712

Segment revenue

United States of America
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Total

7,187
2,010
142
–
(3,096)
(1,988)
(388)
(653)

40,737

39,988
749

86,939

86,939
–

(14,519)

(13,421)
(1,098)

(1,076)

(12,345)

83,778

2008
$’000
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34
Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries and joint venture
(a)
Acquisition of wholly-owned subsidiary, Metech International Inc. (“Metech”)
On 23 October 2007, the Company acquired the entire issued and paid up capital of Metech for a total
cash consideration of US$12,000,000 (S$17,700,000), which is subject to upward adjustments. In the
event that Metech’s earnings target before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”
targets) are met for any of the financial years ending 30 June 2008, 2009 and 2010, the Company will
pay additional consideration of sums not exceeding US$2,500,000 for each such financial year (referred
to as “upward adjustments”).
Net assets with a fair value of US$2,900,000 were acquired and a resultant goodwill of US$9,100,000
(S$13,562,000) was recognised. Metech’s results have been consolidated with effect from 23 October
2007 in the Group’s results for the period ended 30 June 2008.
As at 30 June 2008, the Group has accrued US$1.82 million (S$2.47 million) being the relevant upward
adjustment based on the applicable EBITDA recorded by Metech for financial period ended 30 June
2008. Accordingly, the goodwill as at 30 June 2008 has been adjusted to $16,032,000.
In the 9 months to 30 June 2008, Metech contributed net profit of $1,762,000 to the consolidated
results for the financial periods. If acquisition had occured on 1 January 2007, Group revenue would
have been $203,118,000 and net loss would have been $11,489,000, before taking account of the
incremental financing cost relating to the investment.
The upward adjustments will be treated as contingent consideration whereby the Company will be
recognising a liability when payment becomes probable and the amount can be measured reliably.
The purchase price will subsequently be adjusted against goodwill as the estimate of the amount
payable is revised.
Any material adjustments to the goodwill, if required, will be made when adjustments are made to
those provisional values as a result of completing the purchase price allocation exercise within twelve
months of the date of acquisition, i.e. 22 October 2008.
Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable FRSs immediately before the
acquisition. The values of assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities recognised on acquisition are
their provisionally estimated fair values.
The goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Metech is attributable mainly to the assembled work
force of Metech and other benefits.
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The effect of the acquisition of Metech is set out below:

Note

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Restricted cash held in trust
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to bankers
Long term liabilities

4

Net identifiable assets and liabilities
Goodwill on acquisition

8

Carrying
amounts
$’000

Fair value
adjustments
$’000

Recognised
values
$’000

7,578
14,395
2,358
623
534
(8,711)
(6,262)
(6,330)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

7,578
14,395
2,358
623
534
(8,711)
(6,262)
(6,330)

4,185

–

4,185
16,032

Total purchase consideration
Less: Accrued purchase
   consideration

20,217

Cash consideration paid
Cash acquired

17,747
(534)

Net cash outflow

17,213

(2,470)

(b)
Acquisition of wholly-owned subsidiary, Computer & Electronics Recycling, LLC. (“GRX”)
On 15 August 2008, the Company entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“GRX SPA”) with
certain individual vendors and Computer & Electronics Recycling, LLC (trading under the name of
Guaranteed Recycling Xperts) (“GRX”) for the acquisition of the entire interest in GRX. The acquisition
was completed on the same day.
Under the terms of the GRX SPA, the Company purchased the entire interest of GRX for a total cash
consideration of US$4.0 million (S$5.6 million), which is subject to upward adjustments. In the event
that GRX’s earnings target before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA” targets)
are met for any of the financial years ending 30 June 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Company will pay
additional consideration of sums not exceeding US$1 million for each such financial year, within
6 months of each such year end.
The allocation of the purchase price to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired in this business combination is currently being determined and has not been completed.
Net assets with a provisional fair value of US$2.1 million were acquired and a resultant goodwill
of US$1.9 million (S$2.7 million) was recognised. In particular, deferred tax asset of US$1.1 million
(S$1.6 million) was recognised in relation to the tax-deductible goodwill of US$2.9 million that arose
from the acquisition. For tax purpose, this goodwill will be amortised over 15 years in accordance with
relevant tax laws in US (note 20).
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Subsequently, with the merger of Metech and GRX in April 2009, the Company agreed to pay the GRX
Vendors the sum of US$375,000 by 31 December 2009 (note 34 (c)), as consideration for waiving their
rights to any upward adjustment payments under the GRX SPA for FY2009. Accordingly, the goodwill
as at 30 June 2009 has been adjusted to $3.3 million.
GRX results have been consolidated with effect from 15 August 2008 in the Group’s results for the
year ended 30 June 2009.
In the 10.5 months to 30 June 2009, GRX contributed net loss of $244,000 to the consolidated results
for the financial year. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2008, Group revenue would have been
$78,014,000 and net loss would have been $25,989,000, before taking account of the incremental
financing cost relating to the investment.
The upward adjustments will be treated as contingent consideration whereby the Company will be
recognising a liability when payment becomes probable and the amount can be measured reliably.
The purchase price will subsequently be adjusted against goodwill as the estimate of the amount
payable is revised.
Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable FRSs immediately before the
acquisition. The values of assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities recognised on acquisition are
their provisionally estimated fair values.
The goodwill recognised on the acquisition of GRX is attributable mainly to the future profit, assembled
work force of GRX and other benefits.
The effect of the acquisition of GRX is set out below:
Carrying
Note
amounts
$’000
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

4

Net identifiable assets and liabilities
Goodwill on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Less: Accrued purchase
   consideration

8

Fair value
adjustments
$’000

Recognised
values
$’000

260
1,317
492
–
83
(400)
(378)

–
–
–
1,586
–
–
–

260
1,317
492
1,586
83
(400)
(378)

1,374

1,586

2,960
3,257
6,217
(1,953)

Cash consideration paid
Cash acquired

4,264
(83)

Net cash outflow

4,181
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(c)
Merger of Metech and GRX
On 22 April 2009, the Company entered into supplementary agreements with Vendors of Metech and
GRX to facilitate the completion of the merger and to amend certain terms of the Metech SPA and GRX
SPA (“the SPAs”). The Company completed the merger of Metech and GRX by:
(a)

merging Metech and GRX operation (including the membership interest in GRX) into one entity
with Metech (“merged entity”) being the surviving entity; and

(b)

transferring its entire interest in the share capital of Metech to its wholly owned subsidiary,
Centillion Investments USA Pte Ltd (“CI-USA”).

Amendments to the SPAs
The payment of the upward adjustments to the Metech Vendors for FY2008 of US$1.8 million has
been deferred to payment of US$360,000 and US$1.44 million by 30 June 2009 and 31 December 2009
respectively. Subsequent to year-end, the first payment of US$360,000 has been made.
The payment of US$1 million to the GRX Vendors pursuant to the GRX SPA, being part of the initial
consideration, has been deferred to payment of US$200,000 and US$800,000 by 30 June 2009 and
31 December 2009 respectively. Subsequent to year-end, the first payment of US$200,000 has been
made.
The Metech Vendors and GRX Vendors have waived their rights to any upward adjustment payments
under the Metech SPA and the GRX SPA for FY2009. In consideration of the GRX Vendors waiving their
right to any upward adjustment payments under the GRX SPA for FY2009, the Company shall pay the
GRX Vendors the sum of US$375,000 by 31 December 2009.
With the merger, the upward adjustment payments payable to the Metech Vendors and the GRX
Vendors under the Metech SPA and the GRX SPA for FY2010 and FY2011, will be based on the EBITDA
of the merged entity for the relevant financial year. The aggregate maximum upward adjustment
payable to the Metech Vendors and the GRX Vendors for FY2009, FY2010 and FY2011 is US$4 million
(after taking into account the waiver of upward adjustment payments for FY2009). Previously, the
aggregate maximum upward adjustment payable to the Metech Vendors and the GRX Vendors for
FY2009, FY2010 and FY2011 was US$8 million.
Subsequent to the merger, CI-USA will grant a fixed and floating charge over its assets to the Metech
Vendors and GRX Vendors as security for the payment by CERL of its liabilities under the Metech SPA
and GRX SPA.
(d)
Joint venture
In April 2007, the Company completed a joint venture agreement with Veolia Environmental Services
Asia Pte Ltd (“VES”) and Centeonyx Pte Ltd, a joint venture company was formed. Both VES and the
Company injected $6,500,000 cash each to the joint venture company.
On 11 March 2009, the Company entered into a termination agreement with VES to terminate the joint
venture. On 31 March 2009, pursuant to the termination agreement, VES completed the transfer of its
entire equity interest of 6,500,000 ordinary shares in the issued capital of Centeonyx to the Company for
an aggregate consideration of $1.00. Centeonyx was renamed Centx Pte Ltd (wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company).
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The effect of acquisition of the subsidiary / joint venture during the current financial year and prior
financial period are set out below:
Period from
1/1/2007 to
Year ended
30/6/2008
30/6/2009
$’000
$’000
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Cash and cash equivalents

250
83
430
(994)
231

2,196
–
–
–
3,301

–

5,497

–

1,003

–
–

6,500
(6,500)

The acquisition, net of cash is represented by
Cash consideration paid
Less: Cash acquired

*
(231)

–
(3,301)

Net cash inflow

(231)

(3,301)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities
Add: Gain on dilution of interest in PPE upon formation
of joint venture
Cost of investment

*

Cash consideration paid of S$1.

On 30 June 2009, the Company commenced member’s voluntary liquidation for Centx.
As a result of the termination of joint venture and ongoing liquidation of Centx, the Group recognised
the following expenses in the consolidated income statement for the current financial year:–

Impairment on plant and equipment held by Centx of $1 million;

–

Provision in relation to non-cancellable lease commitment for factory space of $1 million;
and

–

Restructuring and factory closure costs of $360,000.

The results of the joint venture have been proportionately consolidated into the Group’s results until
31 March 2009 and fully consolidated thereafter as a subsidiary.
35
Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2009, to the best of its knowledge and belief, the Group has the following outstanding
litigation, unresolved claims and potential liabilities:
(a)
Claim from Citiraya Technology Sdn Bhd (“CTSB”)
The Company held 60% of the equity capital of CTSB, a company incorporated in Malaysia and is
currently under voluntary liquidation.
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On 16 May 2007, CTSB commenced an action in the High Court of the Republic of Singapore against the
Company, seeking a declaration of CTSB’s entitlement to and an order for the payment (with interest)
of the sum of $2 million, paid by CTSB to the Company pursuant to a sale & purchase agreement dated
18 November 2002 executed between the Company and CTSB, and interest on the purchase money
in respect thereof (the “Action”).
On 22 October 2008, the Action by CTSB was dismissed, with costs in favour of the Company (the
“Judgment”). CTSB filed an appeal on 21 November 2008 against the Judgment (the “Appeal”) and
furnished the sum of $30,000 as security for the costs of the Appeal.
The Appeal was heard by the Court of Appeal on 9 July 2009. The Court of Appeal dismissed the Appeal
with costs to be borne by CTSB.
(b)
Claim from Multiresource Technology, Inc (“MTI”)
On 30 September 2003, MTI entered into an agreement to purchase certain recycling facilities from
the Company for S$7,500,000 (the “Purchase Agreement”). On 4 November 2005, MTI commenced
legal proceedings in Taiwan against the Company claiming damages of NT$20 million (approximately
S$1.0 million) for alleged defects in the recycling facilities.
The Company has a potential counterclaim against MTI for S$750,000 (being the unpaid purchase price
for the recycling facilities) and a potential claim against MTI for about NT$1.2 million (approximately
S$60,000) for unpaid dividend declared by MTI in November 2005.
The Company has taken the position that MTI’s claim is covered under the Scheme of Compromise and
Arrangement between the Company and its creditors dated 19 July 2006 (“the Scheme”). Under the
Scheme, MTI has the obligation to discontinue all proceedings against the Company for the recovery
of any sums allegedly due or owed by the Company under or arising from all agreements entered into
with the Company prior to 25 November 2005.
On 14 August 2009, MTI and the Company informed the Taiwanese Court that MTI had discontinued
its claim against the Company.
36
Subsequent events
Since 30 June 2009, the Group reported the following significant events:
(a)
Proposed Rights Issues of 1,871,860,939 new ordinary shares
On 30 June 2009, the Company proposed a renounceable and non-underwritten rights issue of up
to 1,871,860,939 new ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company (at an issue price of
$0.005 for each rights share and on the basis of 3 rights shares for every 10 existing ordinary shares
in the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company held by shareholders of the Company as at
a time and date to be determined by the Directors for the purpose of determining the shareholders’
entitlements under the rights issue.
As at the date of this report, the Company had received total irrevocable undertakings from the following
parties for approximately 1,300.48 million rights shares or 69.48% of total proposed new shares:
•

Two substantial shareholders to subscribe their respective entitlements of approximately 663.23
million rights shares; and

•

Settlement Vendors (see 36(b) below) for approximately 13.28 million rights shares and up to
maximum of 623.97 million rights shares in excess of their entitlement.
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(b)
Settlement Agreements with certain Metech and GRX Vendors
Based on the terms of the amended GRX SPA and the Metech SPA, approximately $4,647,836 is or will
be due to the GRX Vendors and the Metech Vendors on or about 31 December 2009, of which $820,322
was due and payable to certain vendors on or before 30 June 2009.
On 2 July 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with certain vendors namely, Sameer
Advani, New Heritage Finance, Ltd, Advani Family Trust and Michael Wright (“Settlement Vendors”).
In accordance with the principal terms of the settlement agreement:
(i)

On 12 August 2009, the Company issued 44,252,997 ordinary shares in the issued share capital
of the Company to Settlement Vendors at the issue price of $0.018 per share, being settlement
of 20% of the debt (approximately $796,554) owing by the Company to these Settlement
Vendors;

(ii)

In respect of the remaining 80% of the debt (approximately $3,186,216) owing by the Company
to each Settlement Vendor, the Company shall settle by issuance of rights shares or payment
of cash:
–

Upon the issue of the shares described in (i) to the Vendors, the Vendors are entitled to
participate in the planned rights issue and to subscribe for an aggregate of 13,275,897
rights shares (based on the terms of the rights issues);

–

The Vendors have each given an irrevocable undertaking to the Company to (a) subscribe
and pay for their respective entitlement of the rights shares in accordance with the terms
of the rights issue, and (b) apply and pay for rights shares in excess of their respective
entitlement of the rights shares; and

–

The aggregate number of rights shares that each Vendor is required to subscribe shall
not exceed the number of rights shares with an aggregate subscription price (based on
the issue price of S$0.005 per rights share) that is equal to the debt amount owing to
each Vendor. In the event of a shortfall in the aggregate value of right shares allotted
to the Vendor, the Company shall settle the difference in cash.

The Company has paid approximately $555,821 cash to certain of the Metech Vendors and GRX
vendors, other than the Settlement Vendors, in discharge of the debt that is not otherwise subject to
the Settlement Agreement. In addition, the Company will be paying approximately $110,000 cash to
Metech Vendors and GRX Vendors, other than the Settlement Vendors, in discharge of the debt that is
not otherwise subject to the Settlement Agreement on or before 31 December 2009.
(c)
Loan and Irrevocable Undertaking from Equation Corp Limited (“ECL”)
On 4 September 2009, by a letter of variation to the original loan agreement dated 30 June 2009
between the Company and ECL, a substantial shareholder of the Company, ECL had agreed to increase
the original loan facilities of $0.5 million to $2 million (“ECL Loan”).
Pursuant to the letter of variation, ECL has given an irrevocable undertaking to the Company to take
up and pay for 400,000,000 rights shares in accordance with the terms of the rights issue. ECL further
agrees that the Company may apply the ECL loan towards payment for ECL’s application for the rights
shares and all such amount applied shall be deemed pro tanto full and final repayment of the ECL
Loan.
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 22 September 2009
Class of equity securities
Ordinary share

Number of equity securities
6,225,741,466

Voting Rights
One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of Shareholdings
1 – 999
1,000 – 10,000
10,001 – 1,000,000
1,000,001 AND ABOVE
TOTAL

No. of Shareholders
35
1,738
11,671
261
13,705

%
0.26
12.68
85.16
1.90

No. of Shares
2,169
12,749,403
1,598,680,521
4,614,309,373

%
0.00
0.20
25.68
74.12

100.00

6,225,741,466

100.00

Substantial Shareholdings
Name of Substantial Shareholders

Direct
Interest

%

Equation Corp Limited
Chng Weng Wah
Oei Hong Leong Foundation Pte Ltd
Chip Lian Private Limited
Oei Hong Leong
Tan Ng Kuang

–
–
877,448,344
–
–
599,200,000

–
–
14.09
–
–
9.62

Deemed
Interest
1,747,448,344
1,747,448,344
–
877,448,344
877,448,344
–

%
28.07
28.07
–
14.09
14.09
–

Notes:
a.
Equation Corp Limited is deemed to have an interest in the 1,747,448,344 shares held by Phillip Securities Pte Ltd.
b.
By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Chng Weng Wah is deemed to be interested in the shares that Equation Corp Limited has an
interest in.
c.
By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Chip Lian Private Limited and Oei Hong Leong are deemed to be interested in the shares that
Oei Hong Leong Foundation Pte Ltd has an interest in.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No.

Name

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD
OEI HONG LEONG FOUNDATION PTE LTD
TAN NG KUANG
TAN JOON JAR
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
CITIBANK NOMINNES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD
THAM NGIAP BOO
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD
KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
NG BOON TIN
IE KIAN BIE OR WIDAWATI WIDJAJA
LEONG SUET WAH
ONG KIM MIN @ ONN KIM MIN OR ONN ENG JOO
WONG MOY LOY
DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD
TOTAL

No. of Shares

%

1,780,578,344
877,448,344
599,200,000
284,276,000
95,054,108
73,488,950
61,345,000
59,265,000
58,604,156
33,508,000
19,941,000
18,000,000
14,812,000
14,553,095
11,620,000
10,500,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
9,537,000

28.60
14.09
9.62
4.57
1.53
1.18
0.99
0.95
0.94
0.54
0.32
0.29
0.24
0.23
0.19
0.17
0.16
0.16
0.16
0.15

4,051,730,997

65.08

Percentage of Shareholding in Public’s Hands
Approximately 48.21% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule
723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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